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Report of the Directors
 

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK 
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher 
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective 
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should 
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile 
and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other 
sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on 
GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board 
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no 
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness 
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon 
the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Gold Tat Group International Limited (the 
“Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance 
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing 
Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all 
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in 
this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there 
are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Schedule of Principal Properties
 

The following list contains properties held by the Group as at 31 March 2017:

1. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Location Term Type Group’s interest

Flat B, 5th Floor, No. 75 Broadway 
Mei Foo Sun Chuen, Kowloon, Hong Kong 
The remaining portion of N.K.I.L. No. 5087

Medium Lease Residential 75%

2. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Location
Particulars of 
occupancy Type

The site and 
gross floor area

Group’s 
interest

Two separate parcels of land 
located at Wumaling, 
Longtao, Jiangcheng District, 
Yangjiang City, 
Guangdong Province, PRC

Vacant land as at 
the date of this 
report

Residential/ 
Commercial

Site area – approximately 
16,128 square meters

Gross floor area – 
approximately 46,851 
square meters

66.66%
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Chairman’s Statement
 

To all shareholders:

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to thank our employees, shareholders, 
business partners, suppliers and customers whom have been giving their enthusiastic support to the 
Group continuously over the past year.

During the Financial Year, China’s economic growth rate stayed at the lowest level since the economic 
reform. Our real estate business experienced volatile macro– economic conditions, as after short-lived 
property prices increase, the government issued orders to tighten the property prices and also to restrict 
bank financings for property investors. The Group assessed the business environment and decided to 
switch some of property development portfolio to property investments. Thus, the Group disposed one 
of its property development associates, namely, 陽江市中裕房地產開發有限公司 (Yangjiang Zhongyu 
Property Development Company Limited (“Zhongyu”)), which is the property developer of Xiangjiang 
Peninsula. The purchasers are the owners of the other 50% of Zhongyu. On the same date, the Group 
also acquired 9 villas and 36 commercial units of Xiangjiang Peninsula. The terms and conditions were 
determined after arm’s length negotiations among the parties. 

Our business in trading electronics components underwent adjustment of product mix to more IC 
driver focused, as China’s imports of LCD panels reduced significantly. Such adjustment of product mix 
gave us a higher gross margin than the previous year. We have also been very cautious in adding new 
investments to our portfolio this year to ensure our shareholders’ value.

Our Group has been working hard to fine tune our business strategy to reduce the adverse effects 
towards our Group’s businesses. In the past Financial Year, the Group’s turnover decreased by 14.9%, 
from approximately HK$666,873,000 for 2016 to approximately HK$567,406,000 for 2017; loss for 
the year slightly decreased by 3.4% from the previous year of approximately HK$119,960,000 to 
approximately HK$115,859,000 this year.

Moreover, the Group will continue to enhance the operational efficiency of our respective business 
divisions, with an aim to further improve the profitability and shareholders’ value. The Group will also 
actively look for new business opportunities which may maximize our returns.

Finally, I would also like to thank the management team and the Board for their valuable advice 
and perceptive guidance in the past year and we shall be working even more diligently to meet the 
challenges of the coming year.

So Loi Fat
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 28 June 2017
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Management Discussion and Analysis
 

GENERAL

The Group had been participating in the following activities:

• Trading of Electronic Hardware Components (Display and Touch Panel Modules) with Compatibility 
Solutions Advisory Services; and

• Real Estate Development and Investment

BUSINESS REVIEW

Trading of Electronic Hardware Components (Display Modules including LCD panel and IC 
Drivers) with Compatibility Solutions Advisory Services

The business segment has been facing enormous challenges; sales dropped by 14.3% from 
HK$662,345,000 to HK$567,406,000 for the year ended 31 March 2016 and 2017, respectively. 
However, loss for the year ended 31 March 2017 has narrowed down to HK$752,000 from 
HK$8,818,000 in the preceding year.

In 2016, the LCD panel prices were quite volatile. The occurrence of the earthquake in the beginning 
of the year in Taiwan, coupled with the desirable shipment of smart phones, resulted in short supply 
of panels and the increased phone screen sizes brought increase in panel areas. Driven by demand, 
the prices of LCD panel registered constant increase and panels fell short of supply, which affected 
customers’ speed of placing order. After the National Day holiday, an array of unfavorable factors such 
as India’s abolishment of banknotes, increased supply due to increased capacity of LCD factories, 
completion of repairs and upgrading of LCD factories in Taiwan made LCD prices plummet from high 
prices, affecting customers’ confidence and speed of placing orders.

Looking forward in 2017, the business segment still faces considerable difficulties. Our customers have 
adopted prudent and stable marketing strategies for their businesses. It is estimated that, as from the 
beginning of the second half of the year, the gradual consumption of customers’ overstock, coupled with 
the rise of sales on the market from a low level will make the business promising.

Under the experienced management leadership of ETC Technology Limited (“ETC”), the business unit will 
continue efforts to monitor and expand potential market and customers.

Given the volatility of the prices in the electronic hardware components, the management team of ETC 
has been closely monitoring the overall changes in the relevant markets. More attention and resources 
were diverted in the trading of IC Drivers and the monitoring of the market of display units, which can 
lower ETC’s risk in the volatile market of display units and strengthen our position in the IC Drivers.

The management of ETC will continue to closely monitor the changes in the market, so that a better 
product-mix, better margins and more stable selling prices for trading of our products can be achieved.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Real Estate Development and Investment

The Group has a real estate development portfolio of three projects concentrated in the area of 
Yangjiang City for the year ended 31 March 2017. The most notable project is Xiangjiang Peninsula, 
with stage three and four construction set to get underway. During the year under review, sale of 
residential units of Xiangjiang Peninsula has picked up. This was mainly attributable to the enhancement 
and improvement effort that had been put in by the management. However, such growth in costs in 
developing properties of Xiangjiang Peninsula has led margins being narrowed notwithstanding that 
the property selling price had not been increasing in the same pace. Having performed our regular 
impairment assessment, the carrying amount of Xiangjiang Peninsula, would be dropping drastically.

As at 27 June 2017, the Group decided to dispose its 50% interests in 陽江市中裕房地產開發有限
公司 (Yangjiang Zhongyu Property Development Company Limited (“Zhongyu”)), which is the property 
developer of Xiangjiang Peninsula. The purchasers are the owners of the other 50% of Zhongyu. The 
terms and conditions were determined after arm’s length negotiations among the parties. On the same 
date, the Group also acquired 9 villas and 36 commercial units of Xiangjiang Peninsula. The reason is 
that, as mentioned above, the pace of the sale of properties of Xiangjiang Peninsula has been improving 
throughout the year, which would mean the people flow within the complex would be on an upward 
trend. This, thus, would help to minimise the risks of making such acquisition; and taking into account 
of the valuation performed by an independent professional valuer being greater than the acquisition 
amount, it would represent a good opportunity to invest in the property market.

It was noted that despite a general downturn of the Chinese economy, the local appetite and sentiment 
for the real estate maintained because of the general public’s housing needs; however, the sentiment 
remained conservative. The Group will continue with its cautious investment evaluation approach and 
along with more preparations aiming against possible adverse conditions.

In Hong Kong, we currently have one investment property which is now renovation and we are looking 
for tenant to fill the void in due course.

Prospects

For the real estate market in the PRC, especially in the third and fourth-tier cities, is still in an adjustment 
period whereas the growth rate of real estate investment has also decreased significantly accordingly. 
Policies by the PRC Government and/or other regulatory policies, are believed to be conducive to long 
term stable development of the real estate market in China. The Group will continue to closely monitor 
the development of our property development projects in Guangdong Province and/or surrounding 
provinces, and will actively adjust development strategies to capture new market opportunities.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to build our existing businesses, and will actively looking for new 
investment opportunities to steadily enhance the Group’s profitability and the return to the shareholders.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and results

The Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$567,406,000 for the year ended 31 March 2017 
(2016: approximately HK$666,873,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of 14.9%. All revenue 
was generated from the trading of electronic parts and components business.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$90,745,000 (2016: approximately 
HK$110,611,000). The loss per share was 2.34 HK cents (2016: 3.53 HK cents).

Segment Information

Trading of electronic parts and components

For the year ended 31 March 2017, this segment continued to perform weakly, turnover for the year 
amounted to approximately HK$567,406,000, representing a 14.33% drop in turnover from last year 
of approximately HK$662,345,000. Despite a decrease in turnover, gross profit margin for the year is 
4.24%, which is higher than the margin of 3.02% for the preceding year. Loss for the year significantly 
decreased from approximately HK$8,818,000 for the preceding year to approximately HK$752,000 for 
the year.

Although this trading business recorded operating losses for the year, the cash-generating units of 
this trading business demonstrates sufficient cashflow projection that justifies the carrying value of the 
goodwill and accordingly, no impairment of goodwill is considered necessary.

Property development

The Group has 2 vacant lands of total site area of approximately 16,128 square meters in Yangjiang City, 
Guangdong Province, the PRC for commercial and residential development. No revenue attributable 
to the property development segment was recorded (2016: Nil) as the development has still not 
yet commenced. For the year ended 31 March 2017, due to further delay of the construction and 
change of the development plan, write down of the properties under development of approximately 
HK$11,717,000 (2016: approximately HK$15,295,000) has been recognised in the current year.

Apart from the direct development by its subsidiaries, the Group is also engaged in property 
development through its two associates. For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group shared a profit 
of approximately HK$6,251,000 from its associates, while a loss of approximately HK$21,903,000 for 
the year ended 31 March 2016.

Subsequent to the year end, on 27 June 2017, the Group disposed of one of the associates (the 
“Disposal Associate”) at a consideration of approximately RMB65,194,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$73,506,000). The carrying amount of the Disposal Associate as at 31 March 2017 amounted to 
approximately HK$101,408,000, and accordingly, an impairment loss of approximately HK$27,902,000 
was recognised for the year. Further details regarding this transaction were contained in the 
announcement of the Company dated 27 June 2017.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Segment Information (Continued)

Property investment

For the year ended 31 March 2017, no revenue was generated from this segment as the investment 
property owned by the Group has not been rented out. Revenue for the year ended 31 March 2016 
amounted to approximately HK$4,528,000. For the year ended 31 March 2017, this segment recorded a 
profit of approximately HK$1,881,000, while for the year ended 31 March 2016, a loss of HK$2,273,000 
was reported. It should however be noted that the profit recorded for 2017 included a fair value gain of 
HK$2,000,000 on the increase in fair value of the investment property, while a corresponding fair value 
loss of HK$2,200,000 was recorded in 2016. If the effects of these fair value changes are excluded, 
this segment would have reported a loss of approximately HK$119,000 for the year under review, as 
compared to HK$73,000 for the preceding year.

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group financed its operations with the revenue generated from its operations, the net proceeds from 
placement and banking facilities provided by its bankers in Hong Kong. As at 31 March 2017, the Group 
had total indebtedness of approximately HK$148,373,000 (2016: approximately HK$133,377,000) which 
comprised of bank and other loans, long term bonds, promissory note and finance lease payables.

73.0% (2016: 70.0%) of the indebtedness are considered as current liabilities and repayable within 
one year, 27.0% (2016: 30.0%) are repayable in 2020. HK and US dollar denominated indebtedness 
accounted for 57.9% (2016: 64.8%) and 42.1% (2016: 35.2%) of the total indebtedness respectively.

44.6% (2016: 38.2%) of the indebtedness are interest bearing bank loans on floating rate terms, the 
effective annual interest rates range from 2.25% to 4.00% (2016: 2.25% to 4.00%); 27.0% (2016: 
30.0%) are seven-year 5% coupon straight bonds due 2020; 25.6% (2016: 28.5%) are non-interest 
bearing promissory note which was denominated in HK dollars and will be repayable on 30 January 
2018; 2.7% (2016: 3.0%) of indebtedness are interest bearing other loans at fixed interest rate of 1% 
per month and the remaining 0.1% (2016: 0.3%) are interest bearing finance lease obligation at fixed 
interest rate.

At 31 March 2017, the Group had cash reserves of approximately HK$28,055,000 (2016: approximately 
HK$38,886,000). Most of the cash reserves were placed with major banks in Hong Kong and the PRC. 
97.6% (2016: 99.2%) of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents (comprising cash on hand and bank 
balances) were denominated in HK dollar or US dollar, whereas 2.4% (2016: 0.8%) were denominated in 
Renminbi.

The gearing ratio as at 31 March 2017 was 103.5% (2016: 59.4%). The gearing ratio was derived 
by dividing the total indebtedness of approximately HK$148,373,000 (2016: approximately 
HK$133,377,000) by the amount of shareholders’ equity of approximately HK$143,383,000 (2016: 
approximately HK$224,436,000). The liquidity ratio of the Group, represented by a ratio between current 
assets over current liabilities, was 95.0% (2016: 109.3%).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and financial resources (Continued)

To strengthen its cash resources and working capital position, on 30 August 2016, the Company 
entered into a placing agreement with an independent placing agent, pursuant to which the Company 
has agreed to place through the placing agent, on a best efforts basis, of up to 534,608,000 ordinary 
shares of the Company to not less than six independent placees at the placing price of HK$0.069 per 
placing share (the “Placing”). The aggregate nominal value of the placing shares was USD534,608. 
The placing price of HK$0.069 represented a discount of approximately 18.82% to the closing price 
of HK$0.085 per share of the Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 30 August 2016. The 
completion of the Placing took place on 15 September 2016 and 534,608,000 shares, representing 
approximately 12.97% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue of the 
534,608,000 placing shares, have been placed to not less than six placees at the placing price of 
HK$0.069 per placing share. The gross and net proceeds from the Placing amounted to approximately 
HK$36,887,000 and HK$35,747,000, respectively. The net placing price was approximately HK$0.067 
per placing share. The net proceeds from the Placing were intended to be used for general working 
capital of the Group and the net proceeds were fully used as intended as at 31 March 2017. Details 
of the Placing are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 30 August 2016 and 15 September 
2016.

The management of the Company will continue to make good efforts to improve the liquidity condition. 
Measures will include but not limited to tightening of costs control, expansion of current businesses, the 
securing of additional loan facilities and/or raising funds from the capital market.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The income and expenditure of the Group are mainly denominated in HK dollar, US dollar and Renminbi, 
the impact of foreign exchange exposure to the Group is considered minimal in this respect and no 
hedging or other arrangements to reduce the currency risk have been implemented.

SHARE STRUCTURE

The capital of the Company comprises only ordinary shares. As at 31 March 2017, the total number of 
ordinary shares of the Company was 4,120,899,946 shares.

Pursuant to the placing agreement dated 30 August 2016, 534,608,000 ordinary shares of the Company 
were issued and allotted on 15 September 2016 at a price of HK$0.069 per share. Details of the 
transaction are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 30 August 2016 and 15 September 
2016.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in the capital structure of the Company during the year 
ended 31 March 2017.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL 
ASSETS

The Group held 70 shares or 7% of Coulman International Limited (“Coulman”) as at 31 March 2017 
and 31 March 2016. The carrying amount of investment in Coulman of approximately HK$41,777,000 
(31 March 2016: approximately HK$63,229,000) accounts for approximately 10.37% and 13.24% of the 
Group’s total assets as at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016 respectively. Coulman is an investment 
holding company and its non-wholly-owned subsidiaries operate in natural gas business, including 
construction of pipelines, selling and distribution of natural gas, operation of fueling stations as well as 
installation of natural gas equipment in the PRC.

As the actual performance of the Coulman group was less favourable than the estimate of the 
management, subject to a revaluation by an independent valuer, there was a downward adjustment to 
the carrying amount of the investment of Coulman from approximately HK$63,229,000 as at 31 March 
2016 to approximately HK$41,777,000 as at 31 March 2017. The impairment loss of approximately 
HK$21,452,000 has been included in the profit or loss.

Save as disclosed, the Group did not have any significant investments. There was no plan authorised by 
the Board for any material investments or other additions of capital assets at the date of this report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals during the year ended 31 March 2017.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2017, the Group pledged the following assets to secure loans and bank loan facilities of 
the Group:

(i) the investment property with fair value of HK$11,500,000 (2016: HK$9,500,000);

(ii) the leasehold properties with carrying amount of approximately HK$4,496,000 (2016: 
approximately HK$4,606,000);

(iii) bank deposits in the total amount of approximately HK$22,314,000 (2016: approximately 
HK$20,564,000); and

(iv) structured deposit in the total amount of approximately HK$3,875,000 (2016: Nil).

And, a leased motor vehicle with carrying amount of approximately HK$262,000 (2016: approximately 
HK$437,000) was charged to secure the Group’s finance lease payable. Saved as disclosed, the Group 
did not have any charges on assets of the Group.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2017, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 March 2017, the Group had a total of 68 (2016: 50) employees, of which 21 (2016: 30) were 
based in Hong Kong while the rest were located in the PRC. The Group’s employees are remunerated in 
accordance with their work performance, experience and prevailing industry practices. Total staff costs, 
including Directors’ emoluments, amounted to approximately HK$29,359,000 for the year ended 31 
March 2017 (2016: approximately HK$25,717,000). Share options and bonuses are also available to the 
Group’s employees at the discretion of the Directors and depending upon the financial performance of 
the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors
 

DIRECTORS 

Executive Directors

Mr. So Loi Fat (“Mr. So”), aged 59, was appointed as an executive Director and the chairman 
of the Group on 7 January 2014. Mr. So is the father of Mr. Su Minzhi. Mr. So is responsible for 
formulating the overall business plan and the corporate strategies of the Group. Mr. So has over 30 
years of experience in textile, mining and real estate development businesses in the PRC. Before his 
appointment as an executive Director and the chairman of the Group, Mr. So was the general manager 
of a textile manufacturing company in the PRC and instrumental in promoting the company to become 
one of the well-known enterprises in Fujian Province, the PRC. In relation to Mr. So’s previous career 
history, he was the managing director of a company engaged in mining industry in the PRC where his 
responsibility was to oversee the development, layout and management of a goldmine and a coalmine 
located in Jiuquan district of Gansu Province, the PRC. In addition, Mr. So was also employed as the 
managing director of a company engaged in real estate development in the PRC and was responsible 
for overseeing the real estate projects in Beijing. Currently, Mr. So is a honorary life-chairman of the 
Association of Hong Kong Quanzhou Charity Promotion Limited and a honorary chairman of Chamber of 
Commerce of Fujian Gansu Province.

Mr. Su Minzhi (“Mr. Su”), aged 33, was appointed as an executive Director on 8 April 2015. Mr. Su is 
the son of Mr. So Loi Fat. Mr. Su has been an assistant to director of a property development company 
in the PRC since 2004. Mr. Su is responsible for financial management and investment analysis. Mr. 
Su has also involved in various property development projects and his major responsibilities in those 
projects were construction management, sales management and project controlling and supervising. 
Mr. Su has over 10 years’ experience in property development business in the PRC. In addition, Mr. 
Su assisted the property development company to acquire a mining company in the PRC in 2012. The 
mining company owns two mines in Gansu Province. Mr. Su has worked as assistant general manager 
of that mining company since September 2012 and he is responsible for business management and 
development.

Mr. Chen Dongquan (“Mr. Chen”), aged 40, was appointed as an executive Director on 29 January 
2016 and is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chen is a holder of Bachelor 
degree in Business Administration from the National University of Singapore. Before joining the 
Company, Mr. Chen has worked in various financial institutions in Singapore and Hong Kong for over 15 
years. During recent years, from 2010 to 2013, Mr. Chen was a Senior Vice President, Private Finance 
China, FICC of Macquarie Group in Hong Kong. From 2013 to 2015, Mr. Chen was a director of Venture 
Markit International Capital Management Ltd. He has extensive experience in corporate finance advisory 
services especially equity and debt financing.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chiu Wai Piu (“Mr. Chiu”), aged 70, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director 
on 30 July 2010. Mr. Chiu is a very experienced and reputable journalist and has over 40 years of 
experience in journalism. He has been a reporter, an editor, the main news assignment editor, a local 
news assignment editor, the managing editor and the editorial writer in newspapers and a senior 
research officer in “One Country Two Systems Research Institute”. Mr. Chiu has been the founding 
treasurer and the second-session chairman of the “Hong Kong Federation of Journalists”. In 2006, he 
was elected as the Vice Secretary – General & Treasurer in the new session of re-election of committee 
members of the “Hong Kong Federation of Journalists”; and he was also elected as the Director-General 
in 2009. Mr. Chiu has, for many years, devoted himself wholeheartedly in boosting cooperation among 
local journalists, enhancing professional conduct of journalists and developing the relationship and 
advocating the interchange of knowledge between journalists in Hong Kong and Mainland China. His 
contribution in this field is highly praised and recognised. Mr. Chiu currently serves as the independent 
non-executive director of PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited (now known as Tou Rong Chang Fu Group 
Limited (stock code: 850) and Addchance Holdings Limited (stock code: 3344), both of which are listed 
on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chiu served as an independent non-executive director of Global Strategic 
Group Limited (a company listed on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8007) from 
October 2014 to June 2016.

Mr. Miu Hon Kit (“Mr. Miu”), aged 49, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1 
March 2016. Mr. Miu is a qualified practising accountant with over 21 years of professional experience in 
auditing, accounting, compliance, corporate finance and private equity investments. Mr. Miu is currently 
holding the position of Senior Vice President with Standard Perpetual Partners Limited, a licensed 
corporation with licenses granted by the SFC under the Securities and Futures Ordinance to carry on 
the Type 4 (Advising on Securities) and Type 9 (Asset Management) regulated activities. Furthermore, 
he is also a director of LMN Certified Public Accountants Limited and a non-executive director of FM 
China Fund Limited. Mr. Miu has been appointed as an adjunct professor of the Department of Finance, 
Faculty of Business Administration, Chinese University of Hong Kong since 2013. Mr. Miu received a 
Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy with Honours from City University of Hong Kong and a Master’s degree 
in Business Administration from Imperial College London. Mr. Miu is a fellow member of the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (UK) and 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Miu is currently an independent non-
executive director of Kong Sun Holdings Limited (stock code: 295) and Chong Kin Group Holdings 
Limited (stock code: 1609), both of which are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Li Shiu Ki, Ernest (“Mr. Li”), aged 50, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 
1 March 2016. Mr. Li is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong. Mr. Li graduated with a degree of Laws from 
the University of Hong Kong and was admitted as a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in 1995. He 
is currently the principal of Ernest Li & Co., Solicitors.
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Report of the Directors
 

The Directors hereby submit their annual report together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31 March 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The subsidiaries and associates of the 
Company are principal engaged in the trading of electronic parts and components in relation to display 
modules and touch panel modules, property development and property investment.

An analysis of the performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 by operating segment is 
set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

Particulars of the subsidiaries and associates of the Company as at 31 March 2017 are set out in notes 
23 and 25 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during 
the year under review and a discussion on the Group’s future business development and outlook of 
the Company’s business are provided in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on page 5 and 
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 12 of this report.

Risks and uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group have been addressed in the section headed 
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 12 of this report. In addition, various financial 
risks have been disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis using financial key performance indicators

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 March 2017 using financial 
performance indicators is provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on 
pages 6 to 12 of this report.

Environmental protection

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment from its business activities. The Group 
has endeavored to comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and encourages 
environmental protection and promotes awareness towards environmental protections to the employees.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory requirements and risks of non-
compliance with such requirements. The Group has on-going review the new enacted laws and 
regulations affecting the operations of the Group. During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group is 
not aware of any material non-compliance with the laws and regulations that have significant impact on 
the business of Group.

Relationships with employees, customers and suppliers

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The Group ensures all employees is 
reasonably remunerated and regularly reviews the remuneration package of employees and other 
benefits. The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with its suppliers 
and customers to fulfil its short and long-term goals.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 are set out in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 48 
to 49 of this report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend (2016: Nil).

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year ended 31 March 
2017 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and note 38(b) to the consolidated 
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTION RESERVES

No distribution reserves of the Company was recorded as at 31 March 2017. Under the Companies 
Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium is available for distribution to shareholders subject 
to the provisions of the Articles of Association of the Company, and no distribution may be paid to 
shareholders out of the Company’s share premium unless the Company shall be able to pay its debts as 
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Options” of this Directors’ Report, no equity-linked 
agreement was entered into by the Company during the year or subsisting at the end of the year.
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FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment and investment property of the Group during 
the year are set out in notes 19 and 20 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Details of the principal properties held for development and for investment purposes are set out on page 
4 of this report.

SHARES ISSUED DURING THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued during the year ended 31 March 2017 are set out in note 37 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER LOANS, PROMISSORY NOTE AND LONG TERM BONDS

Details of the bank and other loans, promissory note and long term bonds of the Group as at 31 March 
2017 are set out in notes 32, 34 and 35 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association and there is no 
restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company 
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the 
last five financial years is set out on page 132 of this report. This summary does not form part of the 
audited financial statements.



Report of the Directors
 

Gold Tat Group International Limited
Annual Report 2017

18

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

On 15 September 2016, the Company placed an aggregate of 534,608,000 shares of the Company 
at a price of HK$0.069 per placing share. The net proceeds from the placing were approximately 
HK$35,747,000, with the details as set out in the announcements made by the Company dated 30 
August 2016 and 15 September 2016, respectively.

Save as disclosed, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of 
the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2017.

SHARE OPTIONS

(i) 2003 Share Option Scheme

The 2003 Share Option Scheme has terminated on 25 March 2013. The unexercised options 
under the 2003 Share Option Scheme will continue to be valid and exercisable subject to the 
provisions of the scheme until the end of the exercise periods.

Movements in the outstanding share options granted under the 2003 Share Option Scheme 
during the year ended 31 March 2017 are set out below.

Number of Share Options 

Name Date of grant

Outstanding
as at

1 April
2016

Granted
during the

year

Exercised
during the

year

Lapsed
during the

year

Outstanding
as at

31 March
2017

Approximate
percentage

of the issued
share capital Option period

Consideration
for the grant
of the option

Exercise price
per share

HK$ HK$

Independent  
Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chiu Wai Piu 29 June 2011 500,000 – – – 500,000 0.01% 29 June 2011 –  
28 June 2021

1.00 0.140

Other Participants
Employees in aggregate (Note) 29 June 2011 7,000,000 – – – 7,000,000 0.17% 29 June 2011 –  

28 June 2021
1.00 0.140

      

7,500,000 – – – 7,500,000 0.18%
      

Note:  Employees working under employment contracts that are regarded as “continuous contracts” for the 
purpose of the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong Kong).
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SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

(ii) 2013 Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the 2013 Share Option Scheme on 25 March 2013, pursuant to which 
certain Directors and participants have been granted options to subscribe for shares.

Movements in the outstanding share options granted under the 2013 Share Option Scheme 
during the year ended 31 March 2017 are set out below.

Number of Share Options 

Name Date of grant

Outstanding
as at

1 April
2016

Granted
during the

year

Exercised
during the

year

Lapsed
during the

year

Outstanding
as at

31 March
2017

Approximate
percentage

of the issued
share capital Option period

Consideration
for the grant
of the option

Exercise
price

per share
HK$ HK$

Independent Non-executive 
Directors

Mr. Chiu Wai Piu 28 March 2013 1,150,000 – – – 1,150,000 0.03% 28 March 2013 –  
27 March 2023

1.00 0.150

Other Participants
Employees in aggregate (Note) 28 March 2013 34,500,000 – – – 34,500,000 0.84% 28 March 2013 – 

27 March 2023
1.00 0.150

      

35,650,000 – – – 35,650,000 0.87%
      

Note: Employees working under employment contracts that are regarded as “continuous contracts” for the 
purpose of the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong Kong).

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the 2013 Share Option Scheme:

(a) Purpose

The purpose of the 2013 Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options 
to the participants in order to recognise and motivate the contribution of the participants to 
the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

(b) Participants

The participants of the 2013 Share Option Scheme include full time or part time employees 
of the Group (including any directors, whether executive or non-executive and whether 
independent or not, of the Company or any subsidiary) and any supplier, consultants, 
agents and advisers or any person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has contributed 
or may contribute to the Group.
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SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

(ii) 2013 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(c) Maximum number of shares available for issue

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be 
granted under the 2013 Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the 
Company adopted by the Group must not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the shares in issue 
as at the date of the adoption of the 2013 Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate 
Limit”), unless shareholders’ approval has been obtained in general meeting to refresh the 
Scheme Mandate Limit. Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the 2013 Share 
Option Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate 
Limit.

As at the date of this report, a total of 38,688,837 shares which represented 0.94% of the 
issued share capital of the Company shall be the maximum number of shares available for 
issue at the date of this report.

(d) Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted 
to each participant or grantee (including exercised and outstanding options) in any twelve 
(12)-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue at the 
date of grant.

(e) Grant and acceptance of options

An offer of the grant of an option shall be made to participants in writing (and unless so 
made shall be invalid) in such form as the Board may from time to time determine and shall 
remain open for acceptance by the participant concerned for a period of 28 days from the 
date upon which it is made provided that no such offer shall be open for acceptance after 
the earlier of the 10th anniversary of the date of the adoption of the 2013 Share Option 
Scheme or the termination of the 2013 Share Option Scheme. The amount payable on 
acceptance of an option is HK$1.00.

(f) Time of exercise of options

The period under which an option may be exercised shall be such period as the Board may 
in its absolute discretion determine at the time of making an offer for the grant of an option, 
but in any event no later than 10 years from the date of grant but subject to the early 
termination of the 2013 Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

(ii) 2013 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(g) Price of shares

The exercise price for shares under the 2013 Share Option Scheme may be determined 
by the Board at its absolute discretion but in any event will not be less than the highest 
of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock 
Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing 
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the 
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant, and (iii) the nominal value of a 
share.

(h) Remaining life of the 2013 Share Option Scheme

The 2013 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years ending 
on 24 March 2023.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. So Loi Fat (Chairman)
Mr. Su Minzhi
Mr. Chen Dongquan

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chiu Wai Piu
Mr. Miu Hon Kit
Mr. Li Shiu Ki, Ernest

In accordance with Article 87 of the articles of association of the Company, Mr. Su Minzhi and Mr. Chiu 
Wai Piu will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Chiu Wai Piu, the independent non-executive Director, is re-appointed with two-year terms expiring 
on 29 July 2018. Mr. Miu Hon Kit and Mr. Li Shiu Ki, Ernest, the independent non-executive Directors, 
are appointed with two-year terms expiring on 28 February 2018.
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and of the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in 
note 15 and 14 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

The emoluments of the Directors are subject to review by the Remuneration Committee. Their 
emoluments are determined with reference to their roles and responsibilities in the Group and the 
prevailing market conditions.

The Company has adopted share option scheme as an incentive to Directors and eligible employees, 
details of the share option scheme are set out in the Share Options section above and in note 40 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

CHANGES IN THE INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

There have been changes in the information of some of the Directors since the date of the Company’s 
last annual report. Details of the changes as required to be disclosed under Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM 
Listing Rules are as follows:

1. Mr. Chen Dongquan, the executive Director, was appointed as a member of the nomination 
committee and remuneration committee of the Board with effect from 12 August 2016.

2. Mr. Miu Hon Kit, the independent non-executive Director, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Chong Kin Group Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of 
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1609), with effect from 27 September 2016.

3. The emolument of Mr. So Loi Fat, the executive Director, has been adjusted from HK$50,000 to 
HK$150,000 per month with effect from 1 January 2017.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other change of information in respect of the Directors required to 
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has 
a service contract with the Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of 
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS 
THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which 
the Company’s subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and in which a 
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any 
time during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of Directors at the date of this report are set out in the Biographical Details of 
Directors section on pages 13 to 14 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED 
CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2017, the interests and short positions of each Director and chief executive of the 
Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), which 
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of 
Part XV of the SFO or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the 
register referred to therein or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing 
Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors, to be notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange, were as follows:

Aggregate long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Number of Approximate
shares issuable percentage

Name of Number of under share of issued
Director Capacity Nature of interest shares held options granted share capital

(Note 1)

Director:

Mr. Su Minzhi Beneficial owner Personal interest 46,496,000 – 1.13%

Mr. Chiu Wai Piu Beneficial owner Personal interest – 1,650,000 0.04%

Note:

1. Details are set out in the Share Options section above. All of the share options are physically settled equity 
derivatives.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED 
CORPORATION (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2017, none of the Directors and chief executive of the 
Company has or was deemed to have any interests or short positions in any shares, debentures or 
underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 
SFO), which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed 
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, 
to be entered in the register referred to therein or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of 
the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors, to be notified to the Company and 
the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme of the Company, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2017 
was the Company, its subsidiaries or its other associated corporations a party to any arrangement to 
enable the Directors (including their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by 
means of the acquisition of the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any of 
its associated corporations.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, 
DEBENTURES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

The register of substantial shareholders required to be kept under section 336 of Part XV of the 
SFO shows that as at 31 March 2017, the Company had been notified of the following substantial 
shareholders’ interest and short positions, being 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, 
DEBENTURES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Aggregate long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Approximate

Name of Number percentage

substantial of shares of the issued

shareholders Capacity Nature of interest held Total share capital

Mr. Fang Gang Beneficial owner Personal interest 
(Note 1)

433,808,000 900,006,979 21.84%

Interest in controlled 
corporation

Corporate interest 
(Note 1)

466,198,979

Fuze Investments Limited Beneficial owner Corporate interest 
(Note 1)

466,198,979 466,198,979 11.31%

China Oil Resources Group 
Limited (“China Oil”)

Beneficial owner Corporate interest 
(Note 2)

355,571,722 355,571,722 8.63%

PetroAsian Energy Holdings 
Limited (now known as Tou 
Rong Chang Fu Group Limited)

Interest in controlled 
corporation

Corporate interest 
(Note 2)

355,571,722 355,571,722 8.63%

Mr. Kwok Lung Beneficial owner Personal interest 
(Note 3)

350,000,000 350,000,000 8.49%

Notes:

1. Fuze Investments Limited is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and wholly 
owned by Mr. Fang Gang. Mr. Fang Gang and Fuze Investments Limited pledged his 433,808,000 shares and its 
466,198,979 shares respectively to Kingston Finance Limited. Kingston Finance Limited is 100% controlled by 
Ample Cheer Limited. Ample Cheer Limited is 80% controlled by Best Forth Limited which is in turn 100% controlled 
by Ms. Chu Yuet Wah.

2. China Oil is wholly and beneficially owned by PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited (now known as Tou Rong Chang 
Fu Group Limited). PetroAsian Energy Holdings Limited is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands whose 
shares are listed on the Main Board (stock code: 850).

3. Mr. Kwok Lung pledged his 350,000,000 shares to Kingston Finance Limited. Kingston Finance Limited is 100% 
controlled by Ample Cheer Limited, Ample Cheer Limited is 80% controlled by Best Forth Limited which is in turn 
100% controlled by Ms. Chu Yuet Wah.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company were not aware of any 
person (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company the interests of which were disclosed 
above) who has an interest or short position in the securities of the Company that were required to be 
entered in the register of the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO as at 31 March 2017.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the 
business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and 
customers are as follows:

Purchases
 – the largest supplier 80.23%
 – five largest suppliers in aggregate 98.12%

Sales
 – the largest customer 26.87%
 – five largest customers in aggregate 72.84%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns 
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in these major suppliers or customers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the 
Directors, it is confirmed that there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s issued 
shares at 28 June 2017.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, the Directors shall be indemnified and 
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, 
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or 
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed 
duty, in their respective offices, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of 
any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of them.

The Company has also taken out and maintained Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for the 
purpose of indemnifying for losses in respect of potential legal actions against the Directors and other 
officers of the Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

The retirement schemes of the Company and its subsidiaries are primarily in form of contributions to 
Hong Kong mandatory provident fund and China statutory public welfare fund.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the 
Corporate Governance Report on pages 28 to 36 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors or the controlling shareholders or their respective associates (as 
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company had an interest in a business which competed with or 
might compete with the business of the Group.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 27 June 2017, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Zhang Huiyan, Guan 
Zhongfen, Zeng Guangqing, Luo Zexun and Mai Baojian to dispose of the Group’s entire 50% equity 
interests in an associate, Zhongyu, for a consideration of RMB65,194,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$73,506,000).

The Company’s subsidiary, 深圳市鑫泰溢投資發展有限公司 (“Xintaiyi”), entered into a contract 
(“Intangible Assets Development Contract”) in 2015 to engage a service provider for the development of 
a smart home system for the Group’s residential properties development. The total contract sum was 
RMB25,000,000 (equivalent to HK$28,188,000). As at 31 March 2017, the deposit paid amounted to 
RMB9,806,000 (equivalent to HK$11,056,000 (2016: HK$11,788,000)).

Pursuant to an agreement dated 27 June 2017 (“Assignment Agreement”) entered among Xintaiyi, 
Zhongyu and the service provider, Zhongyu has taken up the rights, risks and benefits in the Intangible 
Assets Development Contract and, in return, Zhongyu would reimburse to Xintaiyi all the costs incurred 
by Xintaiyi up to the date of the Assignment Agreement in relation to the Intangible Assets Development 
Contract.

On 27 June 2017, the Group entered into a properties transfer agreement with Zhongyu to acquire  
certain properties from Zhongyu at a consideration of RMB75,000,000 (equivalent to HK$84,562,000).

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been audited by RSM 
Hong Kong who will retire and, being eligible, offers themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for re-
appointment of RSM Hong Kong as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chen Dongquan
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 28 June 2017
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Corporate Governance Report
 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices enhancing 
greater transparency and quality of disclosure as well as more effective internal control.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Company has complied with the code provisions of the 
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM 
Listing Rules except for the deviations from code provisions A.2.1 and E.1.2 which are explained in the 
relevant sections below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM 
Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions of the Company. The 
Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have complied 
with the required standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the 
Directors throughout the year ended 31 March 2017.

The Company’s code of conduct also applies to all employees who are likely to be in the possession of 
inside information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Company’s code of conduct by 
the employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company currently comprises a total of six Directors, with 
three executive Directors namely Mr. So Loi Fat (as Chairman), Mr. Su Minzhi, and Mr. Chen Dongquan 
and three independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Chiu Wai Piu, Mr. Miu Hon Kit and Mr. Li Shiu 
Ki, Ernest. A list containing the names of the Directors and their roles and functions is published on the 
Company’s website and the GEM website at www.hkgem.com. Mr. So Loi Fat is the father of Mr. Su 
Minzhi. Save as disclosed, to the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial, business, family 
or other material or relevant relationship between the members of the Board.

The Company complies at all times during the year under review with the minimum requirements under 
the Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules respectively relating to the appointment 
of at least three independent non-executive Directors and one of which should have appropriate 
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise and the independent 
non-executive Directors represent at least one-third of the Board. Their biographies are set out in the 
Biographical Details of Directors section on pages 13 to 14 of this report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board is collectively responsible for formulating the strategic business development, reviewing and 
monitoring the business performance of the Group. Key and important decisions shall be fully discussed 
at the board meetings. All Directors have been fully consulted about any matters proposed for inclusion 
in the notice of board meeting. Matters requiring the Board’s approval include review of overall policies, 
corporate plan of the Company, investment plans which would involve significant risks for the Company, 
major organisation changes, significant sales, transfers, or other dispositions of property or assets, 
approval of the annual report, interim report, quarterly report and approval of interim dividend and 
recommendation of the final dividend, other matters relating to the Company’s business which in the 
judgment of the executive Directors are of such significance as to merit the Board’s consideration.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation 
of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers that 
all independent non-executive Directors meet the guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with terms of the guidelines.

Six Board meetings and one general meeting were held during the year ended 31 March 2017. The 
respective attendance of each of the Directors was as follows:–

Number of meetings attended/held

Name of Director Board

2016 
Annual General 

Meeting

Executive Directors
Mr. So Loi Fat 5/6 0/1
Mr. Su Minzhi 6/6 0/1
Mr. Chen Dongquan 6/6 1/1

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chiu Wai Piu 6/6 1/1
Mr. Miu Hon Kit 6/6 1/1
Mr. Li Shiu Ki, Ernest 6/6 1/1

Under code provision E.1.2, the chairman of the Board should attend the annual general meeting of 
the Company. Mr. So Loi Fat, the chairman of the Board did not attend the annual general meeting 
of the Company held on 31 August 2016 due to his other prior business engagement. One of the 
executive Directors, the chairman and all members of each of the audit, remuneration and nomination 
committees of the Board attended the annual general meeting. The Company considers that their 
presence is sufficient for addressing the queries from, and maintaining effective communication with, the 
shareholders attending the annual general meeting.



Corporate Governance Report
 

Gold Tat Group International Limited
Annual Report 2017

30

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

All Directors have been provided with monthly updates by the Group’s management, giving a balanced 
and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position, recent developments and 
prospects in sufficient detail to keep them abreast of the Group’s affairs and facilitate them to discharge 
their duties under the relevant requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ LIABILITIES INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors’ and Officers’ liabilities in 
respect of potential legal actions against the Directors and officers of the Company. Such Directors’ and 
Officers’ liability insurance was reviewed and renewed annually. Throughout the year ended 31 March 
2017, no claims under the insurance policy were made.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Development and training of Directors is an ongoing process so that they can perform their duties 
appropriately. The company secretary of the Company regularly circulates details of conferences/
seminars which may be of interest to Directors. Internal briefings on key corporate governance 
requirements and update on changes to the GEM Listing Rules, laws and regulations are also provided 
on a regular basis where Directors are informed of the impact of such developments or changes to the 
Company.

All Directors have been required to provide the Company with their training records for the year ended 
31 March 2017. All Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional development 
activities during the year under review.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Under code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separated and should 
not be performed by the same individual.

The chairman is responsible for management of the Board and strategic planning of the Group, ensures 
that the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities, encourages all Directors to make a 
full and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and taking the lead to ensure that the Board acts in the 
best interests of the Group. The role of chief executive officer is responsible to undertake the day-to-day 
management of the Group’s business.

Mr. So Loi Fat is the chairman of the Company and there was no chief executive officer appointed by 
the Company and the day-to-day management of the Group was led by Mr. So Loi Fat. There is no time 
schedule to change this structure, as the Directors consider that this structure provides the Group with 
consistent leadership in the Company’s decision making process and operational efficiency.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the nomination committee (the “Nomination 
Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the audit committee (the 
“Audit Committee”) with defined terms of reference.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 30 March 2012. It currently comprises three 
independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director, namely Mr. Chiu Wai Piu (as Chairman), 
Mr. Miu Hon Kit, Mr. Li Shiu Ki, Ernest and Mr. Chen Dongquan.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the structure, the size and composition 
of the Board and making recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes; identifying 
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and make recommendations to the Board in this 
regard; and assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, one Nomination Committee meeting was held. The respective 
attendance of each of the members of the Nomination Committee was as follows:–

Name of Nomination Committee member

Number of 
meetings 

attended/held

Mr. Chiu Wai Piu 1/1
Mr. Miu Hon Kit 1/1
Mr. Li Shiu Ki, Ernest 1/1
Mr. Chen Dongquan (appointed on 12 August 2016) 0/0

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in May 2005. It currently comprises three independent 
non-executive Directors and one executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Shiu Ki, Ernest (as Chairman), Mr. 
Chiu Wai Piu, Mr. Miu Hon Kit and Mr. Chen Dongquan.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the management’s remuneration 
proposal, and making recommendations to the Board on remuneration policy of the Company and 
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2017, two Remuneration Committee meetings were held. The 
respective attendance of each of the members of the Remuneration Committee was as follows:

Name of Remuneration Committee member

Number of 
meetings 

attended/held

Mr. Chiu Wai Piu 2/2
Mr. Miu Hon Kit 2/2
Mr. Li Shiu Ki, Ernest 2/2
Mr. Chen Dongquan (appointed on 12 August 2016) 1/1

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model that it will review the proposals made by the 
management on the remuneration package of individual executive Directors and senior management and 
make recommendations to the Board.

During the year under review, work performed by the Remuneration Committee included (i) reviewing and 
approving the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management and (ii) reviewing on the 
policy and structure of the remuneration package of the Directors and senior management.

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the year under review are set out in note 15(a) to 
the consolidated financial statements.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 30 March 2002. It currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Miu Hon Kit (as Chairman), Mr. Chiu Wai Piu and Mr. Li Shiu Ki, Ernest.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the 
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor and to approve the remuneration and 
terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of resignation or dismissal of such 
auditor; reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence; reviewing the quarterly reports, 
interim report and annual report and accounts of the Group; and overseeing the Company’s financial 
reporting system, risk management and internal control systems.



Corporate Governance Report
 

Gold Tat Group International Limited
Annual Report 2017

33

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2017, four Audit Committee meetings were held. The respective 
attendance of each of the members of the Audit Committee was as follows:–

Name of Audit Committee member

Number of 
meetings 

attended/held

Mr. Chiu Wai Piu 4/4
Mr. Miu Hon Kit 4/4
Mr. Li Shiu Ki, Ernest 4/4

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the year ended 31 March 
2017:

(i) review of the annual report and the annual results announcement for the year ended 31 Mach 
2016, with a recommendation to the Board for approval;

(ii) review and approval of RSM Hong Kong confirmation of independence, its report and the 
management letter for the year ended 31 March 2016, with a recommendation to the Board for 
the re-appointment of RSM Hong Kong at the 2016 annual general meeting;

(iii) review of the quarterly report and the quarterly results announcement for the three months ended 
30 June 2016, with a recommendation to the Board for approval;

(iv) review of the interim report and the interim results announcement for the six months ended 30 
September 2016, with a recommendation to the Board for approval;

(v) review of the quarterly report and the quarterly results announcement for the nine months ended 
31 December 2016, with a recommendation to the Board for approval; and

(vi) discuss with the external auditor the audit planning work (including the nature and scope of the 
audit and reporting obligations) in respect of the audit of the 2017 annual results of the Group.

Prior to the commencement of the audit of the Group’s 2017 consolidated financial statements, the 
Audit Committee received written confirmation from the external auditor of its independence. The Audit 
Committee has approved the audit fees for the year ended 31 March 2017.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The analysis of the auditor’s remuneration for the year ended 31 Mach 2017 is presented as follows:

Fees paid/payable
HK$

Statutory audit services 1,350,000
Non-statutory audit services 9,800

The non-statutory audit services included the taxation advisory services.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledged its responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the Group. The 
Directors ensured in preparing of the financial statements of the Group are in accordance with statutory 
requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The statement by the auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial 
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The management identified and evaluated the significant risks relevant to the Group based on their 
experience in the business environment. They regularly met with frontline employees and continuously 
monitored business performance comparing to operational plan and financial forecasts. The risk 
management and internal control systems are in place to cope with potential risk in different areas 
including liquidity, fraud and financial reporting, operational and compliance risks.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and internal control systems and 
reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. Such risk management and internal control systems 
are designed for managing risks rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, 
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Group’s internal auditor conducted selective reviews on effectiveness of the Group’s internal control 
system over financial reporting, operational risk, regulations compliance, and made recommendations 
for improving and strengthening the internal control system. The results were reported to the Audit 
Committee, which then reviewed and reported the same to the Board.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information, the Group has adopted a policy on 
disclosure of inside information with the aim to ensure that the insiders are abiding by the confidentiality 
requirement and are fulfilling the disclosure obligation of the inside information.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Chang Kam Lai, who was appointed by the Board on 6 
May 2016. Ms. Chang Kam Lai is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants 
and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, Ms. Chang Kam Lai has undertaken not less than 15 hours of 
relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures to convene an extraordinary general meeting

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up 
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company may request 
the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting pursuant to the article 58 of the articles of 
association of the Company. The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be 
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited at the registered office of the Company for the attention of 
the company secretary of the Company.

If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the 
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may convene a meeting, but such meeting shall be held within two 
months after the deposit of requisition.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the Company’s branch share 
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M, 
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

Other shareholders’ enquiries can be directed in writing with contact details (including name, address, 
telephone number and email address) to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at a general meeting

Proposals shall be directed in writing with contact details (including name, address, telephone number 
and email address) to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

The Board will verify the requisition and upon confirming that the requisition is proper and in order, the 
Board will proceed with the necessary procedures.



Corporate Governance Report
 

Gold Tat Group International Limited
Annual Report 2017

36

INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company’s website offers communication channel between the Company and its shareholders and 
investors. Apart from disclosure of all necessary information to the shareholders in compliance with the 
GEM Listing Rules, news update of Company’s business development and operation are available on 
the Company’s website.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2017, there were no changes to the memorandum and articles of 
association of the Company. An up to date consolidated version of the memorandum and articles of 
association of the Company is available on the website of the Company and the GEM.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
 

This is the first environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) report (the “ESG Report”) issued by the 
Company. This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance 
Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group is principally engaged in the trading of the electronic 
parts and components in relation to display modules and touch panel modules. The Group also owns 
two lands in the PRC for development whilst the development has not yet commenced. Apart from the 
direct development, the Group is also engaged in the property development in the PRC through its two 
associates.

The Group’s businesses situated both in Hong Kong and the PRC. In Hong Kong, the Group’s 
headquarter is located in Tsim Sha Tsui District and a trading subsidiary is located at Sha Tin, the New 
Territories. In the PRC the main area where the operations situate is Guangdong Province.

This ESG Report describes the management approach and performance of the Group in environmental 
and social aspects. Corporate governance is not included here as it has been dealt with separately 
in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this Annual Report on pages 28 to 36. This 
ESG Report covers the time range from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017. This ESG Report covered the 
Group’s headquarter and the trading business operated by the Group.

ENVIRONMENT

The Group recognises that the environmental protection is a key issue in the current society. We work to 
reduce the environmental impact of our operations and to promote environmental protection within the 
Group.

Emissions

Energy-saving and greenhouse gas emissions reduction

The type of emissions of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 is the greenhouse gas emissions, 
arising mainly from the use of electricity. To reduce the emission of greenhouse gases, the Group 
attaches great importance to energy saving and reducing emission. Employees are encouraged to turn 
off the electric equipment when it is not being used and confirm all the lights are switched off before 
leaving the office. Total consumption of electricity was 66,368 kWh in the reporting year.
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ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Use of Resources

Due to the nature of our business, we have relatively low consumption of energy, power and water. The 
use of paper is mainly from the operation of the office, and the Group adopts the following measures to 
save paper:

• Using E-fax to minimise printing needs

• Using recycled paper

• Using both sides of paper for printing and photocopying except for formal and confidential 
documents

• Recycling used envelopes and folders in issuing internal documents and letters

• Avoiding printing and photocopying documents unless it has to keep a printed version

Total consumption of paper was about 1.3 tonnes, including the paper used for printing corporate 
financial statements of 0.5 tonnes.

The Environment and Natural Resources

In order to enhance environment preservation, the Group gives careful consideration to various 
operational aspects and activities within the Group to minimize any environmental impact. The Group will 
also discuss and understand better the Group’s suppliers and take into account their environmental and 
social responsibility practices in the selection process.

SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment and Labour Standards

The Group firmly believes that employees are one of the most importance assets of an enterprise. The 
Group will consider the working experiences of employees, the expected working ability, background, 
the market remuneration for the position, the internal budget of the Company and other factors in 
recruiting new employees. The termination of any employment contracts shall be based on reasonable 
reasons with proper legal basis. Promotion opportunities and salary adjustments are benchmarked 
against individual performance.
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SOCIAL (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Employment and Labour Standards (Continued)

Although the Group does not have equal opportunity policies or anti-discrimination policies, the Group 
encourages unprejudiced behavior within the workplace and discourages inappropriate behavior from 
employees in regard to the race, gender, age or religious beliefs of another person within the Group. The 
Group safeguards employees’ entitlement to statutory benefits. We pay for mandatory provident fund, 
all kind of insurance and housing fund for employees in accordance with the Hong Kong/PRC laws, and 
abide by any statutory leave prescribed by the relevant government. Other benefits included medical 
insurance coverage and performance related discretionary bonuses. The working time meets local 
employment laws and is set in the employment contract.

In order to foster the sense of belonging of employees, the Group organised a variety of activities for 
employees, including annual dinner, festival dinner, birthday party and other group activities to promote 
the friendship among employees and establish a harmonious relation in the team.

We do not engage in any forced or child labour. During the year ended 31 March 2017, there were no 
substantial cases of non-compliance in relation to human rights and labour practices standards and 
regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group.

As of 31 March 2017, the Group had a total of 68 employees. Breakdowns of the employees by gender, 
age group, geographical region and employment type are set out below:

Number of employees 68
By gender:
 Female 36
 Male 32
By age group:
 Below 30 11
 30 to 50 46
 Over 50 11
By region:
 Hong Kong 21
 PRC 47
By employment type:
 Full-time 65
 Part-time 3
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SOCIAL (Continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Health and Safety

We have recognised the importance of maintaining a safe and healthy working environment to provide 
sufficient protection to our staff. The Group has been complying with relevant workplace health and 
safety laws and we endeavor to protect our employees from work related injuries. During the year ended 
31 March 2017, there was no injury case related to work.

Training and Development

The Group believes that people development enacts a vital role of the fundamental basis for business 
growth. Other than on-the-job training, employees are encouraged to take part in external training to 
strengthen their skills, knowledge, and professionalism. The Group also assists relevant employees in 
fulfilling the continuous professional training hour requirement.

Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

The Group through its subsidiary (the “Subsidiary”) has engaged in trading of the electronic parts and 
components in relation to display modules and touch panel modules. The main products procured by 
the Subsidiary are LCD panels and LCD drivers/ICs. The Subsidiary mainly sources its products from 
two suppliers which are situated in Taiwan, with whom the Subsidiary has maintained approximately 
15 years of business relationship. The experienced management is responsible for managing and 
maintaining a healthy and good commercial partnership with them.

For new suppliers, the management/sales personnel of the Subsidiary will interview with their chairman 
or general manager. The selecting process will be based on product’s market demand, products 
competitiveness, the supplier’s financial status and corporate reputation. The Subsidiary also requires 
them to provide samples for review. The experienced management and sales personnel with market view 
is the key to the quality of the supply chain of the Subsidiary.

Product Responsibility

There are no existing laws and regulations in Hong Kong that specifically defines or regulates the 
Subsidiary’s business in the trading of electronic components. The Subsidiary has played a vital role in 
understanding and communicating with what its customers need and thus it has maintained years of 
business relationships with its key customers and ensured the end product fitting for the users.

The Subsidiary has strictly abided by the relevant laws and regulations in order to protect data and 
privacy of customers. During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Subsidiary has not received any 
complaints relating to breach of customer privacy/loss of customer information.
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SOCIAL (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

Anti-corruption

The Group takes its fraud prevention or anti-corruption responsibilities very seriously. The Group 
has established a whistleblowing policy to direct employees to report to the Group’s internal audit 
department about possible improprieties in any matter related to the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, no cases of corruption were reported within the Group.

Community Investment

The Group did not do much during the year ended 31 March 2017 in respect of the involvement in 
repaying the community by direct donations to charity organisations. The Group will continue to explore 
more opportunities in contributing to community services.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
 

29th Floor

Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GOLD TAT GROUP INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Gold Tat Group International Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 48 to 131, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2017, the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and 
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) 
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued 
by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to note 2 in the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Group 
incurred a loss of HK$115,859,000 during the year ended 31 March 2017 and, as at that date, the 
Group had net current liabilities of HK$10,952,000. These conditions indicate that a material uncertainty 
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion 
is not modified in respect of this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described 
in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have determined the following to be 
the key audit matters to be communicated in our report:

1. Impairment assessment of goodwill of trading of electronic parts and components segment; and

2. Impairment assessment of available-for-sales financial assets.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit 
Matter

(1) Impairment assessment of goodwill of 
trading of electronic parts and components 
segment

Refer to notes 5(f) and 21 to the consolidated 
financial statements

T h e  G r o u p  r e c o r d e d  g o o d w i l l  o f 
HK$24,911,000 arising from the acquisition of 
75% equity interest in ETC Technology Limited 
and its subsidiaries in 2013. Goodwill was 
allocated to the trading of electronic parts and 
components segment. Goodwill is required to 
be tested for impairment on an annual basis.

Management concluded that no impairment 
shou ld  be made to  the goodw i l l .  The 
r e c o v e r a b l e  a m o u n t  o f  g o o d w i l l  w a s 
determined on the basis of value in use 
models that required significant management 
judgement in making assumptions about future 
revenues, profit margins and growth rates and 
in selecting an appropriate market discount 
rate.

Our procedures regarding management’s 
impairment assessment of goodwil l of 
trading of electronic parts and components 
segment included:

• Assessing the integrity of the value in use 
model;

• Chal lenging the reasonableness of 
management’s key assumptions based 
on our knowledge of the business and 
the industry;

• Reconciling input data to supporting 
evidence, such as approved budgets 
and considering the historical accuracy 
of those budgets;

• Assessing the appropriateness of the 
discount rates used with the assistance 
of our internal valuation specialists; and

• A s s e s s i n g  t h e  a d e q u a c y  o f  t h e 
disclosures in relation to the impairment 
assessment.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit 
Matter

(2) Impairment assessment of available-for-
sale financial assets

R e f e r  t o  n o t e s  5 ( i )  a n d  24 ( a )  t o  t h e 
consolidated financial statements

The Group has available-for-sale financial 
assets stated at cost of HK$63,229,000 
before impairment related to 7% equity interest 
in a private group engaging in sales and 
distribution of natural gas and provision of 
related services. The actual performance of the 
investee company was less favourable than the 
projections of its management which indicated 
that objective evidence of impairment existed.

I m p a i r m e n t  l o s s e s  o f  H K $21 ,452 ,000 
were recognised in profit or loss to reduce 
the carrying amount of the assets to the 
present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the current market rate of return 
for a similar financial asset. Estimating the 
present value of estimated discounted future 
cash flows required significant management 
judgement in making assumptions about the 
future revenues, profit margins and growth 
rates and in selecting an appropriate market 
discount rate.

Our procedures regarding management’s 
impairment assessment of available-for-sale 
financial assets included:

• D i scuss i ng  w i t h  managemen t  t he 
financial performance of the investee 
c o m p a n y  a n d  t h e i r  a s s e s s m e n t 
o f  whe the r  ob jec t i ve  ev idence o f 
impairment existed.

• Evaluating the independent external 
valuer’s competence, capabilities and 
objectivity;

• Assessing the integrity of the valuation 
models;

• Chal lenging the reasonableness of 
management’s key assumptions based 
on our knowledge of the business and 
the industry;

• Reconciling input data to supporting 
evidence, such as approved budgets, 
reference market price and considering 
the historical accuracy of those budgets;

• Assessing the appropriateness of the 
discount rates used with the assistance 
of our internal valuation specialists; and

• A s s e s s i n g  t h e  a d e q u a c y  o f  t h e 
disclosures in relation to the impairment 
assessment.

OTHER INFORMATION AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information comprises all the 
information in the Company’s 2017 annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and 
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other Information and we do 
not and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
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OTHER INFORMATION AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON (Continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
Other Information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the Other Information, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of the Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate 
the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no 
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the 
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mr. Chris Wong Wo 
Cheung.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
28 June 2017
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended 31 March 2017

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 8 567,406 666,873
Cost of sales (543,327) (642,325)    

Gross profit 24,079 24,548

Other net income 9 4,084 33
Employment costs 14 (29,359) (25,717)
Research and development expenses (1,252) (952)
Depreciation 19 (1,093) (1,919)
Transportation expenses (1,161) (1,112)
Other operating expenses (51,945) (42,724)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale  

financial assets 24(a) (21,452) –
Write-down of properties under development 29 (11,717) (15,295)    

Loss from operations (89,816) (63,138)

Finance costs 11 (4,385) (6,869)
Impairment losses on investments in associates 25 (27,902) (24,948)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries 41(a),(b) – (2,973)
Share of profits/(losses) of associates 6,251 (21,903)    

Loss before tax (115,852) (119,831)

Income tax expense 12 (7) (129)    

Loss for the year 13 (115,859) (119,960)
    

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company (90,745) (110,611)
Non-controlling interests (25,114) (9,349)    

(115,859) (119,960)
    

Loss per share (HK cents) 18

Basic (2.34) (3.53)    

Diluted N/A N/A
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2017

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year (115,859) (119,960)    

Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating  

foreign operations (941) (1,881)
Exchange differences reclassified to profit or  

loss on disposal of foreign operations 41(b) – 48    

Other comprehensive income for the year,  
net of tax (941) (1,833)    

Total comprehensive income for the year (116,800) (121,793)
    

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company (91,707) (112,222)
Non-controlling interests (25,093) (9,571)    

(116,800) (121,793)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2017

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 19 6,467 8,013
Investment property 20 11,500 9,500
Goodwill 21 24,911 24,911
Intangible asset 22 1,718 1,718
Available-for-sale financial assets 24 45,652 63,229
Investments in associates 25 93,197 114,848
Deposit for acquisition of intangible assets 26 11,056 11,788
Deposit for investment in available-for-sale 

financial assets 28(d) – 10,800    

194,501 244,807    

Current assets

Inventories 27 7,454 10,537
Trade, bills and other receivables, deposits and 

prepayments 28 115,965 115,912
Properties under development 29 34,727 45,680
Pledged bank deposits 30(a) 22,314 20,564
Tax refundable – 1,001
Bank and cash balances 30(b) 28,055 38,886    

208,515 232,580    

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables and receipt in advance 31 89,028 97,203
Due to an associate 25(a) 22,063 22,201
Bank and other loans 32 70,131 54,986
Finance lease payable 33 242 391
Promissory note 34 38,000 38,000
Current tax liabilities 3 –    

219,467 212,781    

Net current (liabilities)/assets (10,952) 19,799    

Total assets less current liabilities 183,549 264,606    
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2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current liabilities

Long term bonds 35 40,000 40,000
Deferred tax liabilities 36 166 170    

40,166 40,170    

NET ASSETS 143,383 224,436
    

Capital and reserves

Share capital 37 32,194 28,025
Reserves 39 83,865 143,994    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 116,059 172,019

Non-controlling interests 27,324 52,417    

TOTAL EQUITY 143,383 224,436
    

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

So Loi Fat Chen Dongquan
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share
capital

Share
premium
account

Contributed
surplus

Capital
redemption

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Share-based
payments 

reserve
(note 40)

Convertible 
bonds 

reserve
Accumulated

losses Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2015 20,847 270,001 16,375 2,943 569 5,220 59,161 (178,719) 196,397 62,861 259,258            

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – (1,611) – – (110,611) (112,222) (9,571) (121,793)
Shares issued upon placement 3,487 38,978 – – – – – – 42,465 – 42,465
Shares issued upon conversion of convertible bonds 3,636 101,208 – – – – (59,161) – 45,683 – 45,683
Transactions costs attributable to issue of new shares – (1,354) – – – – – – (1,354) – (1,354)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 41(b)) – – – – – – – – – (873) (873)
Shares issued upon exercise of share options 55 1,639 – – – (644) – – 1,050 – 1,050
Forfeiture of share options – – – – – (812) – 812 – – –            

Changes in equity for the year 7,178 140,471 – – (1,611) (1,456) (59,161) (109,799) (24,378) (10,444) (34,822)            

At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 28,025 410,472 16,375 2,943 (1,042) 3,764 – (288,518) 172,019 52,417 224,436            

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – (962) – – (90,745) (91,707) (25,093) (116,800)
Shares issued upon placement (note 37(d)) 4,169 32,718 – – – – – – 36,887 – 36,887
Transactions costs attributable to issue of new shares – (1,140) – – – – – – (1,140) – (1,140)            

Changes in equity for the year 4,169 31,578 – – (962) – – (90,745) (55,960) (25,093) (81,053)            

At 31 March 2017 32,194 442,050 16,375 2,943 (2,004) 3,764 – (379,263) 116,059 27,324 143,383
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March 2017

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss before tax (115,852) (119,831)

Adjustments for:
Other receivable written-off 19,143 442
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,093 1,919
Fair value (gain)/loss on investment property (2,000) 2,200
Fair value loss on Put and Call Option of convertible bonds – 2,574
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries – 2,973
Finance costs 4,385 6,869
Impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets 21,452 –
Impairment losses on investments in associates 27,902 24,948
Interest income (34) (407)
Fair value loss on conversion of convertible bonds – 2,115
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (473) (1)
Write-off of property, plant and equipment 435 –
Inventories written off 169 527
Impairment loss on inventories – 1,872
Impairment losses on other receivables 12,570 2,490
Write-down of properties under development 11,717 15,295
Share of (profits)/losses of associates (6,251) 21,903   

Operating loss before working capital changes (25,744) (34,112)
Decrease in inventories 2,914 19,226
Decrease in trade, bills and other receivables,  

deposits and prepayments 14,066 6,578
Increase in properties under development (1,291) (366)
Decrease in amount due to a non-controlling shareholder – (372)
Decrease in trade and other payables and  

receipt in advance (8,175) (4,962)   

Cash used in operations (18,230) (14,008)
Income taxes received/(paid) 993 (1,174)   

Net cash used in operating activities (17,237) (15,182)   
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2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net increase in amounts with associates 1,240 49,793
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (47) (946)
Proceeds from disposal of interest in subsidiaries – 22,207
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 520 1
Acquisition of available-for-sale financial assets – (25,229)
Deposits for acquisition of intangible assets – (11,788)
Deposit for investment in available-for-sale financial assets – (10,800)
Deposit for acquisition of an associate (11,532) –
Deposit for acquisition of subsidiaries (23,500) –
Purchase of structured deposits (3,875) –
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank deposits (1,750) 5,663
Interest received 34 407   

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (38,910) 29,308   

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issue of shares upon the exercise of share options – 1,050
Net proceeds from issue of shares upon placing 35,747 41,111
Repayment of bank and other loans (234,606) (329,016)
Bank and other loans raised 249,751 262,612
Repayment of finance lease payables (149) (336)
Interest paid (4,367) (6,651)
Finance lease charges paid (18) (28)   

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 46,358 (31,258)   

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (9,789) (17,132)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (1,042) (2,452)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 38,886 58,470   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 28,055 38,886
   

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank and cash balances 28,055 38,886
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Gold Tat Group International Limited (“the Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands 
with limited liability. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of business 
is Suite 1006, 10th Floor, Ocean Centre, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The 
Company’s shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set 
out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These 
consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the 
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange 
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available for 
early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on 
any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the 
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in 
these consolidated financial statements.

The Group incurred a loss of HK$115,859,000 during the year ended 31 March 2017 and, as 
at that date, the Group had net current liabilities of HK$10,952,000. These conditions indicate 
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, therefore, it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its 
liabilities in the normal course of business.

Notwithstanding the above, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. Management has prepared cash flow projections which cover a period of fifteen 
months from the date of the consolidated statement of financial position. The directors have 
reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections. The directors closely monitor the Group’s liquidity 
position and financial performance. As set out in note 25(c), the Group disposed of its entire 
50% equity interest in an associate at a consideration of HK$73,506,000. Besides, as set out in 
note 26, HK$11,056,000 will be reimbursed to the Group in relation to the cost the Group had 
incurred for the development of the smart home system pursuant to the assignment agreement 
entered into subsequent to the reporting date. In the opinion of the directors, in light of the above, 
together with the anticipated cash flows from operations, the Group will have sufficient working 
capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable future. 
Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial 
statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments would have to be 
made to restate the carrying amounts of the assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for 
any further liabilities which might arise and to classify non-current assets and liabilities as current 
assets and liabilities, respectively. The effects of these potential adjustments have not been 
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
AND REQUIREMENTS

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2016. None of these developments have had 
a material effect on how the Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior 
periods have been prepared or presented.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Disclosure Initiative

The amendments to HKAS 1 clarify, rather than significantly change, existing HKAS 1 
requirements. The amendments clarify various presentation issues relating to:

• Assessment of materiality versus minimum disclosure requirements of a standard.

• Disaggregation of specific line items in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income and the statement of financial position. There is also new 
guidance on the use of subtotals.

• Confirmation that the notes do not need to be presented in a particular order.

• Presentation of other comprehensive income items arising from equity-accounted 
associates and joint ventures.

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but 
are not yet effective for the financial year beginning 1 April 2016. These new and revised 
HKFRSs include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for 
accounting periods 

beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure 
initiative

1 January 2017

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes: Recognition of deferred 
tax assets for unrealised losses

1 January 2017

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment: Classification 
and measurement of share-based payment transactions

1 January 2018

Annual improvement to HKFRS 2014-16 cycle 1 January 2018

Amendment to HKAS 40 Investment Property 1 January 2018

HK-IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration

1 January 2018

HKFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and 
HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Sale or 
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or 
joint venture

To be determined
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
AND REQUIREMENTS (Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these 
amendments and new standards is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far 
the Group has identified some aspects of the new standards which may have a significant 
impact on the consolidated financial statements. Further details of the expected impacts 
are discussed below. As the Group has not completed its assessment, further impacts may 
be identified in due course.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The standard replaces HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

The standard introduces a new approach to the classification of financial assets which 
is based on cash flow characteristics and the business model in which the asset is held. 
A debt instrument that is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the 
contractual cash flows and that has contractual cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal outstanding is measured at amortised cost. A debt 
instrument that is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 
collecting the contractual cash flows and selling the instruments and that has contractual 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding is 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. All other debt instruments are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Equity instruments are generally measured at 
fair value through profit or loss. However, an entity may make an irrevocable election on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis to measure equity instruments that are not held for trading 
at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities are carried 
forward largely unchanged from HKAS 39 except that when the fair value option is applied 
changes in fair value attributable to changes in own credit risk are recognised in other 
comprehensive income unless this creates an accounting mismatch.

HKFRS 9 introduces a new expected-loss impairment model to replace the incurred-loss 
impairment model in HKAS 39. It is no longer necessary for a credit event or impairment 
trigger to have occurred before impairment losses are recognised. For financial assets 
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, an entity 
will generally recognise 12-month expected credit losses. If there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, an entity will recognise lifetime expected 
credit losses. The standard includes a simplified approach for trade receivables to always 
recognise the lifetime expected credit losses.

The de-recognition requirements in HKAS 39 are carried forward largely unchanged.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
AND REQUIREMENTS (Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

HKFRS 9 substantially overhauls the hedge accounting requirements in HKAS 39 to align 
hedge accounting more closely with risk management and establish a more principle based 
approach.

The Group’s financial assets that are currently classified as available-for-sale include certain 
listed and unlisted equity securities. The Group expects to irrevocably designate these 
equity securities as fair value through other comprehensive income. This will give rise to a 
change in accounting policy. The unlisted equity securities are currently measured at cost 
less impairment with any impairment losses recognised in profit or loss. HKFRS 9 requires 
fair value measurement with fair value changes recognised in other comprehensive income 
without recycling.

The new expected credit loss impairment model in HKFRS 9 may result in the earlier 
recognition of impairment losses on the Group’s trade receivables and other financial 
assets. The Group is unable to quantity the impact until a more detailed assessment is 
completed.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 replaces all existing revenue standards and interpretations.

The core principle of the standard is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer 
of goods and services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which 
the entity expects to become entitled in exchange for those goods and services.

An entity recognises revenue in accordance with the core principle by applying a 5-step 
model:

1. Identify the contract with a customer

2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract

3. Determine the transaction price

4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

5. Recognise revenue when or as the entity satisfies a performance obligation
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
AND REQUIREMENTS (Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)

The standard also includes comprehensive disclosure requirements relating to revenue.

The Group is currently assessing the impacts of adopting HKFRS 15 on the consolidated 
financial statements and has considered that no material impact on current revenue 
recognition policy.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases and related interpretations. The new standard 
introduces a single accounting model for lessees. For lessees the distinction between 
operating and finance leases is removed and lessees will recognise right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities for all leases (with optional exemptions for short-term leases and leases 
of low value assets). HKFRS 16 carries forward the accounting requirements for lessors 
in HKAS 17 substantially unchanged. Lessors will therefore continue to classify leases as 
operating or financing leases.

The Group’s office property leases are currently classified as operating leases and the lease 
payments (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are recognised as expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. Under HKFRS 16 the Group may need to recognise 
and measure a liability at the present value of the future minimum lease payments and 
recognise a corresponding right-of-use asset for these leases. The interest expense on the 
lease liability and depreciation on the right-of-use asset will be recognised in profit or loss. 
The Group’s assets and liabilities will increase and the timing of expense recognition will 
also be impacted as a result.

As disclosed in note 43, the Group’s future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases for its office properties amounted to HK$4,736,000 as at 
31 March 2017. The Group will need to perform a more detailed assessment in order to 
determine the new assets and liabilities arising from these operating leases commitments 
after taking into account the transition reliefs available in HKFRS 16 and the effects of 
discounting.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, 
unless mentioned otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g. investment properties and 
certain financial instruments that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the use 
of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement 
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiaries made up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has 
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has existing 
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that 
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as well as potential 
voting rights held by other parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder 
has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 
They are de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss of control represents 
the difference between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value 
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets 
of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill and any accumulated foreign currency 
translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses 
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Gold Tat Group International Limited
Annual Report 2017

61

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or 
indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within 
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an 
allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the 
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the 
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss 
of control are accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests 
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference 
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value 
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the 
owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are stated at 
cost less impairment loss, unless the investment is classified as held for sale.

(b) Business combinations and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a subsidiary in a business 
combination. The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at the 
acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred 
and any contingent consideration. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in 
the periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable assets 
and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair 
values.

The excess of the sum of consideration transferred over the Group’s share of the net fair 
value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any 
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over 
the sum of the consideration transferred is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a 
gain on bargain purchase which is attributed to the Group.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest in 
the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or 
loss is recognised in consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum of 
consideration transferred in a business combination to calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured at the non-controlling 
shareholders’ proportionate share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets 
and liabilities at the acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is 
allocated to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs that is expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the 
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is 
monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken 
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential 
impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the 
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of 
disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently 
reversed.

(c) Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence 
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but 
is not control or joint control over those policies. The existence and effect of potential 
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting rights 
held by other entities, are considered when assessing whether the Group has significant 
influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right contributes to significant influence, 
the holder’s intention and financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Associates (Continued)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements by 
the equity method and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of 
the associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. 
The excess of the cost of investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the 
associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is 
included in the carrying amount of the investment and is tested for impairment together 
with the investment at the end of each reporting period when there is objective evidence 
that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated 
profit or loss.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses and other 
comprehensive income is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals 
or exceeds its interest in the associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in 
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group does not 
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of 
the associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising 
its share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not 
recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a loss of significant influence 
represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the 
fair value of any investment retained in that associate and (ii) the Group’s entire carrying 
amount of that associate (including goodwill) and any related accumulated foreign currency 
translation reserve. If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint 
venture, the Group continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the 
retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to 
the extent of the Group’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are 
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements 
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the Company’s functional and 
presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency on initial 
recognition using the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary 
assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the 
end of each reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy 
are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign currencies 
are translated using the exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are 
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive 
income, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in other 
comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in 
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or 
loss.

(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional 
currency different from the Company’s presentation currency are translated into the 
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

– Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are 
translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

– Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period 
(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect 
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and 
expenses are translated at the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

– All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Translation on consolidation (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of monetary 
items that form part of the net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign currency 
translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are 
reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated financial statement of financial 
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent impairment 
losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All 
other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the period in which 
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to write off 
their cost less their residual values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. 
The principal useful lives are as follows:

Leasehold properties 50 years
Computer hardware and software 3-5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Leasehold improvements Over the lease term or 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 4-5 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted, if 
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference between 
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in 
profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Investment property

Investment property is land and/or buildings held to earn rentals and/or for capital 
appreciation. An investment property is measured initially at its cost including all direct 
costs attributable to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at its fair value based on valuation 
by an external independent valuer. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the 
investment properties are recognised in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the difference between the net 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the property, and is recognised in profit or loss.

(g) Cross boundary vehicle licence

Cross boundary vehicle licence with indefinite useful life is stated at cost less any 
impairment losses. Impairment is reviewed annually or when there is any indication that the 
license has suffered an impairment loss.

(h) Leases

The Group as lessee

(i) Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of assets are accounted for as operating leases. Lease payments (net of 
any incentives received from the lessor) are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

(ii) Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the Group all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of assets are accounted for as finance leases. At the commencement of the lease 
term, a finance lease is capitalised at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset 
and the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the 
inception of the lease.

The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated statement 
of financial position as finance lease payable. Lease payments are apportioned 
between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance 
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Assets under finance leases are depreciated the same as owned assets over the 
shorter of the lease term and their estimated useful lives.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is 
incurred.

(j) Properties for sale under development

Properties for sale under development are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Costs include acquisition costs, prepaid land lease payments, construction costs, 
borrowing costs capitalised and other direct costs attributable to such properties. Net 
realisable value is estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimate costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. On 
completion, the properties are reclassified to properties held for sale at the then carrying 
amount.

(k) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined 
using the first-in, first-out basis. The cost of finished goods comprises all cost of purchase, 
cost of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 
location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.

(l) Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of 
financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows 
from the assets expire; the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. 
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and the cumulative gain or loss that had been 
recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract 
is discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis where the 
purchase or sale of a financial asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the 
financial assets within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially 
measured at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the case of 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale financial assets. The 
classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are either financial assets 
classified as held for trading or designated as at fair value through profit or loss 
upon initial recognition. These financial assets are subsequently measured at fair 
value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of these financial assets are 
recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. These assets are carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method (except for short-term receivables 
where interest is immaterial) minus any reduction for impairment or uncollectibility. 
Typically trade and other receivables, bank balances and cash are classified in this 
category.

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are not 
classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss. Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of these 
investments are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
the investment revaluation reserve, until the investments are disposed of or there is 
objective evidence that the investments are impaired, at which time the cumulative 
gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified 
from equity to profit or loss. Interest calculated using the effective interest method 
and dividends on available-for-sale equity investments are recognised in profit or 
loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)

Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an 
active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that 
are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, 
are measured at cost less impairment losses.

(n) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold in the ordinary 
course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year 
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as 
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.

(o) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial 
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into 
known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank 
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash 
management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

(p) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and equity 
instruments under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting 
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out in (q) to (t) 
below.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to 
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

(r) Financial guarantee contract liabilities

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and are 
subsequently measured at the higher of:

– the amount of the obligations under the contracts, as determined in accordance with 
HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”; and

– the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in profit or 
loss on a straight-line basis over the terms of the guarantee contracts.

(s) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would 
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs.

(u) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is 
recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised on the transfer of significant risks and rewards 
of ownership, which generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered and the 
title has passed to the customers.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest 
method.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(v) Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when 
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual 
leave and long service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the 
end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the 
time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are 
available to employees. Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees 
are calculated as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit 
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the Group 
to the funds.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when the Group can 
no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises 
restructuring costs and involves the payment of termination benefits.

(w) Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain directors, employees and 
consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and employees are measured at the 
fair value (excluding the effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the equity 
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, 
based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect 
of non-market based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are measured at the fair value of the 
services rendered or, if the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably measured, 
at the fair value of the equity instruments granted. The fair value is measured at the date 
the Group receives the services and is recognised as an expense.

(x) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time 
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those 
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending 
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of obtaining a 
qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by 
applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the 
weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are 
outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of 
obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are 
incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(y) Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from 
profit recognised in profit or loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable 
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used 
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all 
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary 
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and 
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the 
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a 
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on 
investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint arrangements, except where 
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that 
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when 
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in 
profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that 
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting 
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Gold Tat Group International Limited
Annual Report 2017

74

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(y) Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties that are measured 
using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be 
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted 
when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model of the 
Group whose business objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits 
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption 
is rebutted, deferred tax for such investment properties are measured based on the 
expected manner as to how the properties will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets 
and liabilities on a net basis.

(z) PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land 
value, being the proceeds from sales of properties less deductible expenditures including 
land costs, borrowing costs, business taxes and all property development expenditures. 
LAT is recognised as an income tax expense. LAT paid is a deductible expense for the PRC 
enterprise income tax purposes.

(aa) Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date for 
indications of impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense 
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of 
assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit 
to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and the fair 
value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows of the cash-generating 
unit. Present values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the cash-generating unit whose impairment is being 
measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first against the goodwill of the 
unit and then pro rata amongst the other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent 
increases in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates are credited to profit 
or loss to the extent that they reverse the impairment.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(bb) Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether its financial assets (other 
than those at fair value through profit or loss) are impaired, based on objective evidence 
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition, the 
estimated future cash flows of the (group of) financial asset(s) have been affected.

For available-for-sale equity instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value 
of the investment below its cost is considered also to be objective evidence of impairment.

For financial assets measured at cost, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial assets and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar 
financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed.

In addition, for trade receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually, the 
Group assesses them collectively for impairment, based on the Group’s past experience 
of collecting payments, an increase in the delayed payments in the portfolio, observable 
changes in economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables, etc.

Only for trade receivables, the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against 
the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are 
recognised in profit or loss.

For all other financial assets, the carrying amount is directly reduced by the impairment 
loss.

In respect of available-for-sale equity securities, an increase in fair value subsequent to 
an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
revaluation reserve; impairment losses are not reversed through profit or loss.

(cc) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has 
a present legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at 
the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the 
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, 
unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only 
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also 
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(dd) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Group’s 
position at the end of the reporting period are adjusting events and are reflected in the 
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting 
events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when material.

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors have made the following 
judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

(a) Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the 
validity of which depends upon whether the Group is able to generate sufficient cash flows 
from operations and fund raising to meet its working capital requirements and financial 
obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable future. Details are explained in note 
2 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Deferred tax for investment property

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for investment property that is measured using 
the fair value model, the directors have reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios 
and concluded that the Group’s investment property is not held under a business model 
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the 
investment property over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining the 
Group’s deferred tax for investment property, the directors have adopted the presumption 
that investment property measured using the fair value model is recovered through sale. 
Accordingly, no deferred tax is recognised in respect of the fair value change in such 
investment property as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on disposal of 
investment property in Hong Kong because no capital gain tax arising from property sales 
in Hong Kong.

(c) 50% equity interest in an associate

As stated in notes 25(c) to the consolidated financial statements, the legal title of the 
Group’s 50% equity interest in an associate, 陽江市中裕房地產開發有限公司 (“Zhongyu”), 
was transferred to certain shareholders on 29 August 2016. Despite the fact that the 
Group was no longer the registered owner of the 50% equity interest of Zhongyu, the 
directors determined to continue to account for the interest in Zhongyu as investment in an 
associate, on the grounds that those shareholders have signed declarations of trust that 
they hold the 50% equity interest on behalf of the Group and the Group is in substance still 
the beneficial owner of Zhongyu that the Group has significant influence in Zhongyu.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values and related depreciation 
charges for the Group’s property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the 
historical experience of the actual useful lives and residual values of property, plant and 
equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charge 
where useful lives and residual values are different to those previously estimated, or it 
will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been 
abandoned.

As at 31 March 2017, the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment was 
HK$6,467,000 (2016: HK$8,013,000).

(b) Income taxes and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant estimates are 
required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course 
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts 
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made. During the year, HK$7,000 
of income tax was charged (2016: HK$129,000) to profit or loss based on the estimated 
assessable profits.

Deferred tax assets recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will 
be available against the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. In the current 
year, deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and tax losses are not 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(c) Impairment for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment for bad and doubtful debts based on assessments of the 
recoverability of the trade and other receivables, including the current creditworthiness and 
the past collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise where events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The identification of bad 
and doubtful debts requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual result 
is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of the 
trade and other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such estimate 
has been changed.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, impairment losses of HK$12,570,000 for bad and 
doubtful debts on other receivables was recognised (2016: HK$2,490,000).

(d) Impairment of investments in associates

Management determines whether investments in associates have suffered any impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not 
be recoverable, according to their recoverable amounts determined by the cash-generating 
units based on value in use calculations. The determination of impairment indication 
requires significant judgement, and the calculations require the use of estimates which are 
subject to change of economic environment in future.

As at 31 March 2017, the carrying amount of investments in associates was 
HK$93,197,000 (2016: HK$114,848,000).

(e) Fair value of investment property

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer to assess the fair values of the 
investment property. In determining the fair values, the valuer has utilised a method of 
valuation which involves certain estimates. The directors have exercised their judgement 
and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the current market conditions.

As at 31 March 2017, the carrying amount of investment property was HK$11,500,000 
(2016: HK$9,500,000).
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(f) Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the 
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation 
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.

The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the reporting period was HK$24,911,000 
(2016: HK$24,911,000).

(g) Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the ageing and estimated 
net realisable value of inventories. The assessment of the allowance amount involves 
judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is different from the original 
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and allowance 
charge/write-back in the period in which such estimate has been changed. No allowance 
for slow-moving inventories was made for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: 
HK$1,872,000).

(h) Net realisable value of properties under development

The Group writes down properties under development to net realisable value based on 
assessment of the realisability of properties under development which takes into account 
cost to completion based on past experience and net sales value based on prevailing 
market conditions. If there is an increase in cost to completion or a decrease in net sales 
value, the net realisable value will decrease which may result in writing down properties 
under development to net realisable value. Write-downs are recorded where events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be realised. The identification 
of write-downs requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is 
different from the original estimate, the carrying value of properties under development is 
adjusted in the period in which such estimate is changed.

As at 31 March 2017, the carrying amount of the properties under development was 
HK$34,727,000 (2016: HK$45,680,000). An impairment loss of HK$11,717,000 was 
recognised for the year ended 31 March 2017 (2016: HK$15,295,000).
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES (CONT’D)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(i) Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

In assessing the indication of impairment of the 7% equity interest in an unlisted company 
classified as available-for-sale financial assets, the directors of the Company considered 
the internal and external factors which would impact on the value of the available-for-sale 
financial assets. The directors of the Company considered that an indication of impairment 
existed as the actual performance of the investee company was less favourable than 
projected by its management. The Group engaged third-party qualified valuers to determine 
the recoverable amount in order to estimate the impairment of these available-for-sale 
financial assets. The management of the Group works closely with the qualified external 
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

Impairment loss of HK$21,452,000 (2016: Nil) was recognised in the profit or loss for the 
year ended 31 March 2017 in respect of the above available-for-sale financial assets.

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, 
liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on 
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its business 
transactions, assets and liabilities are principally denominated in HK$, Renminbi (“RMB”) 
and United States dollars (“US$”). The Group currently does not have a foreign currency 
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group 
monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign 
currency exposure should the need arise.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis 

The Group’s bank balances, pledged bank deposits, trade, bills and other receivables, 
bank loans, trade and other payables are exposed to fluctuation in a currency other than 
functional currency of the Group which they relate.

The Group does not expect any significant exposure to foreign currency risk as HK$ is 
pegged to the US$ and it is not considered likely that these will be a material fluctuation in 
the US$/HK$ exchange rate.

The following table indicates that the instantaneous change in the Group’s loss after tax 
(and accumulated losses) that would arise if RMB/HK$ exchange rate to which the Group 
has significant exposure at the end of the reporting period had changed at that date, 
assuming all other risk variables remained constant. Other components of equity would not 
be affected by changes in foreign exchange rates. For presentation purposes, the amounts 
are shown in HK$, translated using the spot rate at the end of the reporting period.

2017 2016
Increase/

(decrease) 
in foreign 

exchange rates

Effect on loss 
after tax and 
accumulated 

losses

Increase/
(decrease) 
in foreign 

exchange rates

Effect on loss 
after tax and 
accumulated 

losses
HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$/RMB 5% 1,438 5% 69
(5%) (1,438) (5%) (69)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in RMB/HK$ had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose the Group to foreign 
currency risk at the end of the reporting period.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. In order to minimise 
credit risk, the directors have delegated a team to be responsible for the determination of 
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures. In addition, the directors 
review the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt regularly to ensure that 
adequate impairment losses are recognised for irrecoverable debts. In this regard, the 
directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has certain concentration of credit risk as the Group’s largest five debtors 
accounts for 75% of trade receivables as at 31 March 2017 (2016: 75%).

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with an 
appropriate credit history.

The credit risk on pledged bank deposits, bank and cash balances is limited because the 
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating 
agencies.

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to 
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the 
short and longer term.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s 
financial liabilities is as follows:

Less than 
1 year and 

on demand
Between 1 

and 2 years
Between 2 

and 5 years
Over 

5 years Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 March 2017
Trade and other payables 87,305 – – – 87,305
Finance lease payables 252 – – – 252
Bank and other loans 70,131 – – – 70,131
Long term bonds 2,000 2,000 44,000 – 48,000
Due to an associate 22,063 – – – 22,063
Promissory note 38,000 – – – 38,000

At 31 March 2016
Trade and other payables 95,707 – – – 95,707
Finance lease payables 420 – – – 420
Bank and other loans 54,986 – – – 54,986
Long term bonds 2,000 2,000 46,000 – 50,000
Due to an associate 22,201 – – – 22,201
Promissory note 38,000 – – – 38,000

The following table summarises the maturity analysis of bank and other loans and 
finance lease payables with a repayment on demand clause based on agreed scheduled 
repayments set out in the loan agreements. The amounts include interest payments 
computed using contractual rates. As a result, these amounts were greater than the 
amounts disclosed in the “on demand” time band in the maturity analysis contained above. 
Taking into account the Company’s financial position, the directors do not consider that 
it is probable that the bank will exercise its discretion to demand immediate repayment. 
The directors believe that such bank and other loans will be repaid in accordance with the 
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities that bank and other loans, finance 
lease payables and promissory note subject to a repayment on demand clause based on 
schedule repayments:

Less than 
1 year and 

on demand
Between 1 

and 2 years
Between 2 

and 5 years
Over 

5 years Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 March 2017
Finance lease payables 168 84 – – 252
Bank and other loans 67,075 314 792 2,841 71,022
Promissory note 38,000 – – – 38,000

At 31 March 2016
Finance lease payables 168 252 – – 420
Bank and other loans 51,573 383 1,106 2,840 55,902
Promissory note – 38,000 – – 38,000

(d) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its bank and other loans. These bank 
and other loans bear interests at variable rates varied with the prevailing market condition 
and expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

At 31 March 2017, if the interest rate had been 100 basis points lower, with all other 
variables held constant, the impact on consolidated loss after tax is summarised in the 
following table. The sensitivity analysis includes bank and other loans and adjusts the 
respective interest rates at the year end of 100 basis points. A positive number indicates 
a decrease in loss. If the interest rate had been 100 basis points higher, with all other 
variables held constant, there would be an equal and opposite impact on loss after tax, and 
the balances below would be negative.

At 31 March

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss after tax 376 188
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(e) Categories of financial instruments as at 31 March

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets:
Loans and receivables (including cash and  

cash equivalents) 164,667 172,309
Available-for-sale financial assets 45,652 63,229

Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 257,744 251,284

   

(f) Fair values

Except as disclosed in note 24(a) to the consolidated financial statements, the carrying 
amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the 
consolidated statement of financial position approximate their respective fair values.

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The following 
disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categories into three levels 
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the Group can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of any of the three levels as of 
the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 March:

Fair value measurements 
using level 3:

Description 2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value measurements
Assets
Investment properties

Residential – Hong Kong 11,500 9,500
   

(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based on level 3:

Description 2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment property
At beginning 9,500 45,700
Total gains or (losses) recognised  

in profit or loss (#) 2,000 (2,200)
Disposal of a subsidiary – (34,000)   

At end of year 11,500 9,500
   

(#)  Include gains or losses for assets held at end of 
reporting period 2,000 (2,200)

   

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss including those for assets held at the 
end of the reporting period is included in other net income (note 9) of the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, investment property amounting to HK$34,000,000 
was derecognised due to disposal of a subsidiary.
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and valuation techniques and 
inputs used in fair value measurements at 31 March 2017:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for the fair value measurements of assets 
and liabilities required for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value 
measurements. The financial controller reports directly to the board of Directors for these 
fair value measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between 
the financial controller and the board of Directors at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally engage external valuation 
experts with the recognised professional qualifications and recent experience to perform 
the valuations.

Level 3 fair value measurements

Assets

Description Valuation technique
Unobservable 
inputs Range 2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment property in  
Mei Foo Sun Chuen,  
Hong Kong

Sales comparison 
approach

Premium (discount) on 
quality of properties

Increase or decrease 25% 11,500 9,500

The fair value of investment property is determined using sales comparison approach by 
reference to recent sales price of comparable properties on a price per square foot basis, 
adjusted for a premium or a discount specific to the quality of the Group’s properties 
compared to the recent sales. The valuation takes into account the characteristic of the 
property which included the location, size, floor level, year of completion and other factors 
collectively. Higher premium for higher quality properties will result in a higher fair value 
measurement.

During the two years, there were no changes in the valuation techniques used.
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8. REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales of electronic parts and components 567,406 662,345
Rental income – 625
Sublease rental income – 3,903   

567,406 666,873
   

9. OTHER NET INCOME

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income 34 407
Net foreign exchange gains 163 –
Fair value gain/(loss) on investment property 2,000 (2,200)
Sundry income 1,887 1,826    

4,084 33
   

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has three (2016: three) reportable segments as follows:

Trading of electronic parts and 
components

– trading of electronic parts and components and 
provision of professional solution with engineering 
services

Property development – sale of developed properties

Property investment – Rental income and property appreciation

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and 
services. They are managed separately because each business requires different technology and 
marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in note 4 to 
the consolidated financial statements. Segment profit or loss do not include unallocated corporate 
results.
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about reportable segment profit or loss:

Trading of 
electronic 
parts and 

components
Property 

development
Property 

investment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 March 2017
Revenue from external customers 567,406 – – 567,406
Segment (loss)/profit (752) (77,562) 1,881 (76,433)
Depreciation 187 386 – 573
Impairment loss on investments in associates – 27,902 – 27,902
Write-down of properties under development – 11,717 – 11,717

Year ended 31 March 2016
Revenue from external customers 662,345 – 4,528 666,873
Segment loss (8,818) (84,624) (2,273) (95,715)
Depreciation 181 601 660 1,442
Impairment loss on investments in associates – 24,948 – 24,948
Write-down of properties under development – 15,295 – 15,295

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue and profit or loss:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue
Total revenue 567,406 666,873

   

Profit or loss
Total loss of reportable segments (76,433) (95,715)
Unallocated corporate results (39,426) (24,245)   

Consolidated loss for the year (115,859) (119,960)
   

Reconciliation of other material items:
Other material items – depreciation and amortisation
Total depreciation of reportable segments 573 1,442
Unallocated amounts:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment for 

corporate use 520 477   

Consolidated depreciation 1,093 1,919
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

Non-current assets

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 44,431 43,812
The PRC except Hong Kong 104,418 126,966   

Consolidated total 148,849 170,778
   

Geographical information excluded available-for-sale financial assets and deposit for investment in 
available-for-sale financial assets.

Majority of the revenue generated by the Group for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 31 
March 2016 were attributable to customers based in the PRC. In presenting the geographical 
information, revenue is based on the location of the customers.

Revenue from major customers

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A 152,377 160,756
Customer B 98,380 133,406

   

Revenue from two (2016: two) customers generated from the Group’s trading of components 
segment.
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11. FINANCE COSTS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Wholly repayable within five years
– Effective interest expenses on liability components  

of convertible bonds – 1,578
– Interest on bank loans 1,823 2,181
– Interest on other loan 463 746
– Finance lease charges 18 28

Not wholly repayable within five years based on 
repayment schedule
– Interest on bank loans 81 336
– Interest on long term bonds 2,000 2,000   

4,385 6,869
   

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax has been recognised in profit or loss as following:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax – Hong Kong Profits Tax
– Over-provision in prior years – (27)

Current tax – PRC Enterprise Income Tax
– Provision for the year 11 160

Deferred tax liabilities (note 36) (4) (4)   

Income tax expense 7 129
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements 
since the Group has sufficient tax losses brought forward to set off against current year’s 
assessable profit (2016: Nil).

PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been provided at a rate of 25% (2016: 25%).

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the product of loss before tax multiplied 
by the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before tax (115,852) (119,831)   

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5%  
(2016: 16.5%) (19,116) (19,772)

Tax effect of income that is not taxable (366) (67)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible 21,673 21,368
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised 28 (12)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 600 1,315
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not previously 

recognised (308) –
Over-provision in prior years – (27)
PRC withholding tax 11 –
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries (2,515) (2,676)   

Income tax expense 7 129
   



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Gold Tat Group International Limited
Annual Report 2017

93

13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the following:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Auditor’s remuneration
– Current year 1,350 900
– Under-provision in prior year 100 –

1,450 900

Cost of inventories sold 543,327 642,325
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,093 1,919
Direct operating expense of investment property that 

generate rental income – 117
Fair value (gain)/loss on investment property (2,000) 2,200
Impairment loss on inventories – 1,872
Inventories written off 169 527
Other receivables written off 19,143 442
Impairment losses on other receivables 12,570 2,490
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (473) (1)
Fair value loss on Put and Call Option of convertible 

bonds – 2,574
Fair value loss on conversion of convertible bonds – 2,115
Write-off of property, plant and equipment 435 –
Operating lease charges

– Premises 3,055 3,011
– Premises for sub-leasing – 2,073

Research and development expenses
– Other expenses 1,252 952
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14. EMPLOYMENT COSTS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Employee benefits expense (including  
directors’ emoluments):
Salaries, bonuses and allowances 29,028 25,223
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 331 494   

29,359 25,717
   

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year include one (2016: Nil) director 
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in note 15. The emoluments of the 
remaining four (2016: five) individuals are set out below:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Basic salaries and allowances 10,414 9,040
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 72 68   

10,486 9,108
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14. EMPLOYMENT COSTS (Continued)

The emoluments fell within the following band:

Number of individuals

2017 2016

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 – 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 – 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 4 2   

4 5   

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the highest 
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of 
office.

15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Emoluments of directors

The emoluments of each director were as follows:

Name of director
Directors’ 

fees

Salaries 
and 

allowances

(Note (f)) 
Estimated 

money value 
of the benefit

Retirement 
benefit 

scheme 
contributions Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 March 2017

Executive directors

Mr. So Loi Fat – 900 828 18 1,746
Mr. Su Minzhi – 600 – – 600
Mr. Chen Dongquan – 1,800 – 18 1,818

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Chiu Wai Piu 120 – – – 120
Mr. Miu Hou Kit 120 – – – 120
Mr. Li Shiu Ki, Ernest 120 – – – 120      

Total for 2017 360 3,300 828 36 4,524      
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15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a) Emoluments of directors (Continued)

Name of director
Directors’ 

fees

Salaries 
and 

allowances

(Note (f)) 
Estimated 

money value of 
other benefits

Retirement 
benefit 

scheme 
contributions Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 March 2016

Executive directors

Mr. Choi Ho Yan (note (a)) – 600 – 15 615
Mr. So Haw, Herman (note (a)) – 190 – 8 198
Mr. So Loi Fat – 600 136 18 754
Mr. Wong Shiu Wah, Williamson (note (b)) – 660 – 17 677
Mr. Su Minzhi (note (c)) – 588 – – 588
Mr. Chen Dongquan (note (d)) – 315 – 4 319

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Chiu Wai Piu 120 – – – 120
Mr. Tam Yiu Cheung (note (b)) 110 – – – 110
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (note (b)) 110 – – – 110
Mr. Miu Hou Kit (note (e)) 10 – – – 10
Mr. Li Shiu Ki, Ernest (note (e)) 10 – – – 10      

Total for 2016 360 2,953 136 62 3,511      

Note:

(a) Resigned on 1 September 2015

(b) Resigned on 1 March 2016

(c) Appointed on 8 April 2015

(d) Appointed on 29 January 2016

(e) Appointed on 1 March 2016

(f) Represented rent paid

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any 
emoluments during the year (2016: Nil).
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15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangement or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business 
to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company and the 
director’s connected party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted 
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

16. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong 
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. 
The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages 
subject to a monthly maximum amount of contribution of HK$1,500 (2016: HK$1,500) per 
employee and vest fully with employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Subsidiaries established in the PRC participate in various defined contribution retirement plans 
(“Plans”) organised by local authorities for the Group’s employees in the PRC. The subsidiaries 
are required to contribute, based on a certain percentage of the basic payroll, to the Plans. The 
Group has no other material obligation for the payment of pension benefits associated with these 
Plans beyond the annual contributions described above.

17. DIVIDENDS

The Directors have not declared nor proposed any dividends in respect of the year ended 31 
March 2017 (2016: Nil).

18. LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss for the year attributable 
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$90,745,000 (2016: approximately 
HK$110,611,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 3,876,298,478 
(2016: 3,133,038,420) in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted loss per share

As the exercise of the Group’s outstanding share options for the years ended 31 March 
2017 and 2016 would be anti-dilutive, no diluted loss per share was presented in both 
years.
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 
properties

Computer 
hardware and 

software

Leasehold 
improvements, 

furniture 
and fixtures

Office 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
At 1 April 2015 5,000 379 8,701 33 2,969 17,082
Additions – 10 – – 936 946
Disposal of subsidiaries – – (6,355) (5) – (6,360)
Disposal – (65) – – – (65)
Exchange differences – (3) (134) (1) (24) (162)       

At 31 March 2016 and at 1 April 2016 5,000 321 2,212 27 3,881 11,441
Additions – 30 11 6 – 47
Written off – (8) (590) – – (598)
Disposal – (38) (7) – (1,522) (1,567)
Exchange differences – (4) (3) (1) (34) (42)       

At 31 March 2017 5,000 301 1,623 32 2,325 9,281       

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2015 284 139 1,218 12 1,634 3,287
Charge for the year 110 79 1,102 6 622 1,919
Disposal of subsidiaries – – (1,649) (3) – (1,652)
Disposal – (65) – – – (65)
Exchange difference – (1) (47) (1) (12) (61)       

At 31 March 2016 and at 1 April 2016 394 152 624 14 2,244 3,428
Charge for the year 110 68 328 6 581 1,093
Written off – (4) (159) – – (163)
Disposal – (21) (2) – (1,497) (1,520)
Exchange difference – (2) (2) – (20) (24)       

At 31 March 2017 504 193 789 20 1,308 2,814       

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2017 4,496 108 834 12 1,017 6,467       

At 31 March 2016 4,606 169 1,588 13 1,637 8,013       

At 31 March 2017, the carrying amount of one motor vehicle (2016: one) held by the Group under 
finance leases amounted to approximately HK$262,000 (2016: HK$437,000).

The Group’s leasehold properties are situated in Hong Kong and are held under medium-lease.

At 31 March 2017, the carrying amount of the Group’s leasehold properties amounted to 
approximately HK$4,496,000 (2016: HK$4,606,000) were pledged as security for the Group’s 
mortgage loan (note 32).
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20. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of year 9,500 45,700
Disposal of a subsidiary – (34,000)
Fair value gain/(loss) 2,000 (2,200)   

At end of year 11,500 9,500
   

Investment property was revalued at 31 March 2017 and 2016 on the open market value basis by 
reference to market evidence of recent transactions for similar properties by Savills Valuation and 
Professional Services Limited, an independent firm of valuers.

The Group’s investment property is situated in Hong Kong and is held under medium-leases.

At 31 March 2017, the carrying amount of investment property pledged as security for the 
Group’s bank and other loans amounted to HK$11,500,000 (2016: HK$9,500,000) (note 32).

21. GOODWILL

HK$’000

Cost

At 1 April 2015, at 31 March 2016, at 1 April 2016 and at 31 March 2017 24,911  

Accumulated impairment losses

At 1 April 2015, at 31 March 2016, at 1 April 2016 and at 31 March 2017 –  

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2017 24,911
  

At 31 March 2016 24,911
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21. GOODWILL (Continued)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash-generating 
unit (“CGU”) that are expected to benefit from that business combination. The carrying amount of 
goodwill, before impairment loss, had been allocated to ETC Technology Limited (“ETC”) in trading 
of electronic parts and components segment.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined on the basis of its value in use using 
discounted cash flow method.

The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, 
growth rates and budgeted gross margin and turnover during the period. The Group estimates 
discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the CGU. The growth rates are based on long-term average 
economic growth rate of the geographical area in which the businesses of the CGU operates. 
Budgeted gross margin and turnover are based on past practices and expectations on market 
development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved 
by the directors for the next five years with the residual period using 3% (2016: 3%) growth rate. 
This rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.

The pre-tax rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is 11% (2016: 11%) for the CGU of 
ETC.

22. INTANGIBLE ASSET

The Group’s intangible asset solely represented cross-boundary vehicle licence of HK$1,718,000 
(2016: HK$1,718,000). The licence is assessed as having indefinite useful life because there is no 
time limit that the Group can enjoy the services provided by that licence.

No impairment was made as the management considered the realisable value of the licence was 
closed to the cost at 31 March 2017.
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23. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries at 31 March 2017 are as follows:

Name

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment

Principal 
activities

Particulars of 
issued share 
capital/
registered 
capital Interest Held

Directly held: 2017/2016

Full Rich Human Resources 
Limited

Hong Kong Human resources 
management in 
Hong Kong

HK$100 100%/100%

Gold Continental 
Investments Limited

British Virgin 
Island (“BVI”)

Investment holding 100 ordinary shares 
of US$1 each

100%/100%

Golden Kingtex Limited BVI Investment holding 100 ordinary shares 
of US$1 each

100%/100%

Gold Basin Capital Limited BVI Investment holding 100 ordinary shares 
of US$1 each

100%/100%

Zhong Xin Enterprises 
Limited

BVI Investment holding 10 ordinary shares 
of US$1 each

100%/N/A

Hao Cheng Global Limited BVI Investment holding 10 ordinary shares 
of US$1 each

100%/N/A

Fountain Voice Limited BVI Investment holding 10 ordinary shares 
of US$1 each

100%/N/A

Loyal Brave Holdings 
Limited

BVI Investment holding 10 ordinary shares 
of US$1 each

100%/N/A

Forceful Shine Limited BVI Investment holding 10 ordinary shares 
of US$1 each

100%/N/A

Indirectly held:

Best Team International 
Investment Limited

Hong Kong Investment holding HK$2,000 100%/100%

深圳市鑫泰溢投資發展有限

公司 (“Xintaiyi”) (note (b))
The PRC Investment holding RMB31,946,352 100%/100%
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Name

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment

Principal 
activities

Particulars of 
issued share 
capital/
registered 
capital Interest Held

Indirectly held: (Continued)

陽江市永聯房地產開發有限

公司

The PRC Property 
development

RMB1,000,000 66.66%/66.66%

ETC Hong Kong Trading of 
electronic parts

HK$2,000,000 75%/75%

超豐科技（深圳）有限公司 
(note (b))

The PRC Trading of 
electronic parts

HK$2,000,000 100%/100%

Best Worldwide Corporation 
Limited (“Best Worldwide”)

Hong Kong Investment holding HK$150,000,100 70%/70%

深圳市錦鑫貿易有限公司 
(note (b))

The PRC Investment holding RMB10,000,000 100%/100%

深圳市金康盛信息諮詢 
有限公司 (“Jinkang-
sheng”)

The PRC Investment holding RMB10,000,000 100%/100%

China Town Development 
Limited

Hong Kong Not yet commence 
business

HK$1 100%/100%

Top Wealth Holdings 
Limited

Hong Kong Investment holding HK$1 100%/100%

Joyful Concord Limited Hong Kong Not yet commence 
business

HK$1 100%/100%

Sky Goal International 
Limited

Hong Kong Not yet commence 
business

HK$1 100%/100%

Note:

(a) The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

(b) These subsidiaries are Wholly-Owned Foreign Enterprises established in the PRC.

23. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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23. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests (“NCI”) 
material to the Group. The summarised financial information represents amounts before inter-
company eliminations.

Name Best Worldwide ETC

Principal place of business/
country of incorporation

Hong Kong/Hong Kong Hong Kong/Hong Kong

% of ownership interests/voting 
rights held by NCI

30%/30% 25%/25%

2017 2016 2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 March:
Non-current assets 46,490 139,678 16,990 11,180
Current assets – – 134,753 128,659
Current liabilities (716) (545) (132,567) (122,640)     

Net assets 45,774 139,133 19,176 17,199
     

Accumulated NCI 13,732 41,740 4,816 4,305
     

Year ended 31 March:
(Loss)/profit (93,359) (173) 2,044 (10,366)

(Loss)/profit allocated to NCI (28,008) (52) 511 (2,592)
     

Net cash (used in)/generated 
from operating activities – – (18,930) 37,544

Net cash (used in)/generated 
from investing activities – – (5,639) 6,064

Net cash generated from/(used 
in) financing activities – – 15,146 (63,089)     

Net changes in cash and cash 
equivalents – – (9,423) (19,481)
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23. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

As at 31 March 2017, the bank and cash balances of the Group’ subsidiaries in the PRC 
denominated in RMB amounted to HK$414,000 (2016: HK$247,000). Conversion of RMB 
into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and 
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted equity securities (note (a)) 41,777 63,229
Structured deposit (note (b)) 3,875 –   

45,652 63,229
   

Analysed as:
Non-current assets 45,652 63,229

   

Note:

(a) The unlisted equity securities represented an investment of 7% equity interest in a private company 
incorporated in BVI and its non-wholly owned subsidiaries are principally engaged in the operations of 
natural gas business, including construction of pipeline, selling and distribution of natural gas, installation of 
natural gas equipment and operation of fuel station in the PRC.

At 31 March 2017 and 2016, the investment was carried at cost less impairment as it did not have a quoted 
market price in an active market and its value could not be reliably measured.

The actual performance of the investee company was less favourable than the projections of its management 
and indication of impairment existed. The Group engaged independent external valuation experts, DTZ 
Cushman & Wakefield Limited, to determine the recoverable amount. The management of the Group worked 
closely with the valuation experts to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

The recoverable amount of the investment has been determined on the basis of the present value of 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for the similar financial assets.

The key assumptions for estimating the present value of estimated future cash flows calculations are those 
regarding the discount rates, growth rates and budgeted gross margin and turnover of the investee company 
during the period. The management of the Company estimates discount rates using rate of return on similar 
investments that reflect current market conditions. The management of the Company estimate the growth 
rates based on long-term average economic growth rate of the geographical area in which the businesses 
of the investee company operates. Budgeted gross margin and turnover are based on past practices and 
expectations on market development.

An impairment of HK$21,452,000 has been made as at 31 March 2017 and recognised in profit or loss.

This unlisted equity securities are denominated in HK$.
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24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(b) At 31 March 2017, the Group’s structured deposit represented collared floating rate note (“CFRN”) issued 
by a high-credit rating bank. The CFRN interest rate linked non-equity product with variable interest 
ranging from 1% to 3% indexed to 3-month USD LIBOR, and will be matured on 5 July 2020. The directors 
considered that the carrying value of the CFRN approximate its fair value at end of the reporting period. The 
CFRN is denominated in US$.

The structured deposit with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$3,875,000 (2016: Nil) has been pledged to 
a bank to secure bank loans for ETC (note 32).

25. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Zhongyu Fuli 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted investments:
Share of net assets 101,408 11,972 113,380
Goodwill 121,854 10,149 132,003    

223,262 22,121 245,383
Impairment losses on investments in associates 

(notes (b) and (c)) (149,756) (2,430) (152,186)    

73,506 19,691 93,197
    

Zhongyu Fuli 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted investments:
Share of net assets 94,857 12,272 107,129
Goodwill 121,854 10,149 132,003    

216,711 22,421 239,132
Impairment losses on investments in associates 

(notes (b) and (c)) (121,854) (2,430) (124,284)    

94,857 19,991 114,848
    



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2017

Gold Tat Group International Limited
Annual Report 2017

106

25. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes:

(a) The amount due to an associate is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(b) The recoverable amounts of the investments in an associate, 陽江市陽東富力房地產發展有限公司 (“Fuli”), 
is determined from the value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations 
are those regarding the discount rate, growth rate and budgeted turnover. The Group estimates discount 
rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the investment in Fuli. The growth rates are based on long-term average economic growth rate 
of the geographical area in which the businesses of the associate operates. Budgeted turnover is based on 
expectations on market development of related operations.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by the 
directors covering a five-year period with the pre-tax rate of 29% (2016: 14%).

As at 31 March 2017, accumulated impairment loss of HK$2,430,000 (2016: HK$2,430,000) was made on 
the investment in Fuli with reference to the recoverable amounts of the associate.

(c) The Group owns 50% equity interests in Zhongyu through a subsidiary, Jinkangsheng. According to 
the record shown in National Enterprise Credit Information Publicity System, managed by the State 
Administration for Industry and Commerce of the People’s Republic of China, the registered owners of 
Jinkangsheng’s 50% equity interest in Zhongyu had been changed to Zhang Huiyan（張輝燕）, Guan 
Zhongfen（關仲芬）, Zeng Guangqing（曾廣清）, Luo Zexun（羅澤勛）, Mai Baojian（麥保健）(collectively 
referred as “Other Shareholders”) with effect from 29 August 2016.

The Group received a declaration of trust dated 1 August 2016 from the Other Shareholders confirming that 
they respectively held in aggregate of the 50% equity interests in Zhongyu on behalf of Jinkangsheng with 
effect from 29 August 2016 by each of the Other Shareholders as follows:

Zhang Huiyan – 12%
Guan Zhongfen – 12%
Zeng Guangqing – 13.5%
Luo Zexun – 6.5%
Mai Baojian – 6%

The Other Shareholders declared that Jinkangsheng is the beneficial owner of the 50% equity interests in 
Zhongyu and Jinkangsheng still has significant influence over Zhongyu. The Group obtain a legal opinion that 
the declaration issued by the Other Shareholders is legally enforceable and Jinkangsheng’s interest, risk and 
benefits in Zhongyu is not affected even though Jinkangsheng is not the registered shareholder.

Pursuant to a sales and purchases agreement dated 27 June 2017 (“S&P Agreement”) entered among 
Jinkansheng and the Other Shareholders. Jinkansheng disposed its 50% equity interests in Zhongyu to the 
Other Shareholders in the following manner:

Zhang Huiyan – 12%
Guan Zhongfen – 12%
Zeng Guangqing – 13.5%
Luo Zexun – 6.5%
Mai Baojian – 6%

The consideration for the disposal of the 50% equity interest is RMB65,194,000 (equivalent to 
HK$73,506,000).

As at 31 March 2017, accumulated impairment loss of HK$149,756,000 (2016: HK$121,854,000) was 
made on the investment in Zhongyu with reference to the consideration as stated above. Impairment loss of 
HK$27,902,000 (2016: HK$22,518,000) was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2017.
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25. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Details of the Group’s associates at 31 March 2017 are as follows:

Name
Place of 
establishment

Particulars of 
registered capital

Percentage of 
ownership interest Principal activities

2017 2016

Fuli The PRC RMB1,000,000 25% 25% Property development

Zhongyu The PRC RMB10,000,000 50% 50% Property development

The following table shows information of associates that are material to the Group. These 
associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method. 
The summarised financial information presented is based on the HKFRS financial statements of 
the associates.

Name Zhongyu Fuli

2017 2016 2017 2016

Principal place of business/
country of establishment

The PRC/The PRC The PRC/The PRC

Principal activities Property development 
in the PRC

Property development 
in the PRC

% of ownership interests/
voting rights held  
by the Group

50%/50% 25%/25%
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25. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Name Zhongyu Fuli

2017 2016 2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 March:
Non-current assets 89 147 26 42
Current assets 384,083 406,717 153,440 170,908
Non-current liabilities (18,438) (37,169) (21,844) (25,056)
Current liabilities (185,163) (190,834) (87,841) (97,967)     

Net assets 180,571 178,861 43,781 47,927
     

Group’s share of net assets 90,286 89,430 10,945 11,982
Exchange realignment 11,122 5,427 1,027 290
Impairment loss (27,902) – – –
Goodwill – – 7,719 7,719     

Group’s share of carrying 
amount of interests 73,506 94,857 19,691 19,991

     

Year ended 31 March
Revenue 120,291 185,061 9,590 58,218

Profit/(loss) from operations 13,102 (44,463) (1,200) 1,313

Other comprehensive 
income (20,195) (10,718) (2,948) (2,445)     

Total comprehensive income (7,093) (55,181) (4,148) (1,132)
     

As at 31 March 2017, the bank and cash balances of the Group’ associates in the PRC 
denominated in RMB amounted to HK$13,176,000 (2016: HK$16,153,000). Conversion of 
RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and 
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.
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26. DEPOSIT FOR ACQUISITION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Company’s subsidiary, Xintaiyi, entered into a contract (“Intangible Assets Development 
Contract”) in 2015 to engage a service provider for the development of a smart home system 
for the Group’s residential properties development. The total contract sum was RMB25,000,000 
(equivalent to HK$28,188,000). As at 31 March 2017, the deposit paid amounted to 
RMB9,806,000 (equivalent to HK$11,056,000 (2016: HK$11,788,000)).

Pursuant to an agreement dated 27 June 2017 (“Assignment Agreement”) entered among Xintaiyi, 
Zhongyu and the service provider, Zhongyu has taken up the rights, risks and benefits in the 
Intangible Assets Development Contract and, in return, Zhongyu would reimburse to Xintaiyi all 
the costs incurred by Xintaiyi in relation to the Intangible Assets Development Contract up to the 
date of the Assignment Agreement.

27. INVENTORIES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Finished goods 7,454 10,537
   

28. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables (notes (a), (b) and (c)) 50,159 55,027
Bills receivables 23,426 1,323
Other receivables (notes (d), (e), (f) and (g)) 39,803 55,544
Deposits and prepayments 2,577 4,018   

115,965 115,912
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28. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(a) The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the goods delivery date, and before allowance, is as 
follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 30 days 30,220 38,294
31 to 60 days 10,116 5,083
61 to 90 days 4,625 6,503
Over 90 days 5,198 5,147   

50,159 55,027
   

The credit terms granted by the Group to its customers are generally cash on delivery to 90 days.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and overdue balances are 
reviewed regularly by directors.

(b) The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ US$ Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2017 – 50,159 50,159    

2016 1,019 54,008 55,027    

(c) Trade receivables past due but not impaired

As at 31 March 2017, trade debtors of approximately HK$5,867,000 (2016: approximately HK$438,000) 
were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is no 
recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Up to 30 days 5,756 438
31 to 60 days 111 –   

5,867 438
   

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to customers having a good track record with the 
Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in 
respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are 
still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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28. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d) On 28 January 2016, the Company’s subsidiary entered into a share equity transfer agreement with an 
independent private company in the PRC to acquire 5% equity interest in a private company, established in 
the PRC and engaged in property development in the PRC, at a consideration of RMB9,000,000. As at 31 
March 2017, a deposit of RMB9,000,000 (equivalent to HK$10,800,000) (2016: HK$10,800,000) was paid 
to the vendor. The acquisition was not successful and the amount was reclassified as other receivable under 
current assets as at 31 March 2017. The deposit was refunded to the Group in June 2017.

(e) On 25 May 2016, the Company’s subsidiary entered into a share equity transfer agreement with an 
independent company in the PRC to acquire 20% equity interest in a private company, established in the 
PRC and engaged in sale and distortion of minerals, chemical products and related mining machinery in the 
PRC, at a consideration of RMB10,000,000. A deposit of RMB10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$11,275,000) 
was paid to the vendor as at 31 March 2017. The acquisition was subject to fulfilments of certain conditions.  
The Group agreed with the vendor to terminate the acquisition and RMB3,800,000 was refunded to the 
Group in June 2017. An impairment loss of RMB6,200,000 (equivalent to HK$7,150,000) was made as at 31 
March 2017.

(f) On 1 November 2016, the Company entered into a share equity transfer agreement with an independent 
company in the PRC to acquire 51% equity interest in a private company established in the PRC and 
engaged in properties development in the PRC, at a consideration of RMB12,000,000. A deposit of 
RMB12,000,000 (equivalent to HK$13,500,000) was paid to the vendor as at 31 March 2017. The 
acquisition was subject to fulfilments of certain conditions. Upon expiry of the condition period in April 2017, 
the vendor is required to repay the amount to the Group in accordance with the agreement. An amount of 
HK$5,000,000 was refunded to the Group in June 2017. Mr. So Loi Fat (“Mr. So”), an executive director of 
the Company, has issued a personal guarantee on 28 March 2017 in favour of the Group that he will repay 
the outstanding balance to the Group in the event the vendor fails to settle the outstanding balance and Mr. 
So has also pledged his property to secure his guarantee.

(g) On 16 December 2016, the Company entered into a share equity transfer agreement with an independent 
company in the PRC to acquire 90% equity interest in a private company, established in the PRC and 
engaged in interior design in the PRC, at a consideration of RMB9,000,000. A deposit of RMB9,000,000 
(equivalent to HK$10,000,000) was paid to the vendor as at 31 March 2017. The acquisition was subject to 
fulfilments of certain conditions. Upon expiry of the condition period in June 2017, the vendor is required to 
repay the amount to the Group in accordance with the agreement. Mr. So has issued a personal guarantee 
on 28 March 2017 in favour of the Group that he will repay the outstanding balance to the Group in the 
event the vendor fails to settle the outstanding balance and Mr. So has also pledged his property to secure 
his guarantee.
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29. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 45,680 61,014
Additions 1,291 366
Write-down (11,717) (15,295)
Exchange difference (527) (405)   

At 31 March 34,727 45,680
   

The properties under development include costs of acquiring rights to use certain lands, which are 
located in Yangjiang City, Guangdong Province, the PRC. Land use rights are held on leases of 36 
years.

30. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK AND CASH BALANCES

(a) The carrying amounts of the pledged deposits of the Group are denominated in US$.

The pledged bank deposits represented deposits pledged to banks to secure banking 
facilities granted to the Group (note 32).

(b) The cash and cash equivalents of the Group are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash on hand 125 89
Cash at bank 27,930 38,797   

Cash and cash equivalents 28,055 38,886
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30. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK AND CASH BALANCES (Continued)

The cash and cash equivalents of the Group are denominated in the following currencies:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

US$ 26,853 36,361
HK$ 529 2,200
RMB 673 325   

28,055 38,886
   

31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND RECEIPT IN ADVANCE

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables (notes (a) and (b)) 54,629 59,967
Other payables (note (c)) 31,215 34,279
Receipt in advance 1,723 1,496
Bond interest payable 1,461 1,461   

89,028 97,203
   

Notes:

(a) The ageing analysis of trade payables of the Group, based on the goods receipt date, is as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 30 days 35,678 41,587
31 to 60 days 15,907 13,940
61 to 90 days 3,044 3,110
Over 90 days – 1,330   

54,629 59,967   

(b) The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are denominated in US$.

(c) As at 31 March 2016, other payables included an amount of HK$1,959,000 due to a director, Mr. So Loi Fat. 
The amount was unsecured, interest-free and had no fixed term of repayment.
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32. BANK AND OTHER LOANS

The analysis of the carrying amount of bank and other loans are as follow:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current liabilities

Secured bank loans subject to repayable on demand 
clause (i) 3,361 3,665

Secured bank loans on demand or within one year (i) 303 297
Unsecured other loan subject to repayable on demand 

clause (ii) 4,000 4,066
Bank invoice loans (iii) 62,467 46,958   

70,131 54,986
   

The interest bearing bank and other loans, including the bank and other loans repayable on 
demand, are carried at amortised cost.

The bank and other loans are repayable as follows based on the scheduled repayment dates set 
out in the loan agreements and ignore the effect of any repayment on demand clause:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

On demand or within one year 66,770 51,321
In the second year 240 303
In the third to fifth years, inclusive 601 841
After five years 2,520 2,521   

70,131 54,986
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months (66,770) (51,357)   

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 3,361 3,629
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32. BANK AND OTHER LOANS (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the bank and other loans are denominated in the following currencies:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 7,664 8,028
US$ 62,467 46,958   

70,131 54,986
   

The ranges of interest rates paid were as follows:

2017 2016

(i) Bank loans 2.25% to 2.5% 2.25% to 2.5%

(ii) Other loan – unsecured 1% per month 1% per month

(iii) Bank invoice loans 2.51% to 4% 2.56% to 4%

Except for unsecured other loan which is arranged at fixed rate and expose the Group to fair value 
interest rate risk, all bank loans are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing the Group to cash 
flow interest rate risk.

At 31 March 2017, the above bank and other loans are secured by the following:

(a) legal charge over leasehold properties of the Group (note 19);

(b) legal charge over investment property of the Group (note 20);

(c) legal charge over properties owned by the directors of a subsidiary and a related person of 
the Group;

(d) personal guarantees with unlimited amount given by directors of subsidiaries;

(e) corporate guarantees provided by the Company;

(f) pledged bank deposits of a subsidiary (note 30(a)); and

(g) structured deposit of a subsidiary (note 24(b)).
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33. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLE

Minimum lease 
payments

Present value of 
minimum lease payments

2017 2016 2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 253 421 242 391

Less: Future finance charges (1) (1) – –     
 
Present value of lease 

obligations 252 420 242 391
   

Less: Amount due for settlement 
within 12 months (shown 
under current liabilities) (242) (391)  

Amount due for settlement  
after 12 months – –

  

It is the Group’s policy to lease its motor vehicle under finance leases. The lease term is 4 years. 
As at 31 March 2017, the effective borrowing rate was 5.70% (2016: 5.70%). Interest rates are 
fixed at the contract dates. The lease is on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have 
been entered into for contingent rental payments. At the end of lease term, the Group has the 
option to purchase the motor vehicle at nominal price.

The finance lease payable is denominated in HK$.

The Group’s finance lease payable is secured by the lessor’s title to the leased asset (note 19).

34. PROMISSORY NOTE

As at 31 March 2017, the promissory note with principal amount of HK$38,000,000 issued by the 
Group represented the outstanding consideration for the acquisition of the 7% equity interest in a 
private entity for the year ended 31 March 2016 as set out in note 24(a).

The promissory note was unsecured, interest free and with maturity date on 28 January 2018. 
The note holder may, at any time before 28 January 2018 by serving at least three months prior 
written notice on the Company for the repayment of whole principal amount of promissory note or 
any part of it in amounts of not less than HK$1,000,000 or other amounts as agreed mutually. The 
principal amount of the promissory note is denominated in HK$.
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35. LONG TERM BONDS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unsecured long term bonds, repayable:
Between 2 and 5 years 40,000 40,000

   

Long term bonds as at 31 March 2016 and 2017 comprised:

(i) Long term bonds with an aggregate principal amount of HK$20,000,000 issued by 
the Company to certain investors on 3 April 2013 and 20 June 2013 pursuant to the 
subscription agreement dated 18 February 2013, of which (i) HK$10,000,000 is due on 2 
April 2020 and bears interest at the rate of 5% per annum, and (ii) HK$10,000,000 is due 
on 19 June 2020 and bears interest at the rate of 5% per annum; and

(ii) Long term bonds with an aggregate principal amount of HK$20,000,000 issued by 
the Company to certain investors on 5 September 2013 pursuant to the subscription 
agreement dated 29 August 2013 which is due on 4 September 2020 and bears interest at 
the rate of 5% per annum.

The long term bonds will mature on the date falling on the seventh anniversary of the date of first 
issue of the long term bonds.

The effective interest rate of the long term bonds is approximately 5.12% per annum.

36. DEFERRED TAX

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised by the Group, and the movements 
thereon, during the year:

Revaluation 
of leasehold 

properties
HK$’000

At 1 April 2015 174
Credit to profit or loss for the year (note 12) (4)  

At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 170
Credit to profit or loss for the year (note 12) (4)  

At 31 March 2017 166
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36. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately 
HK$12,111,000 (2016: HK$12,233,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax 
asset has been recognised in 2017 and 2016 due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. 
Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$4,928,000 (2016: HK$2,974,000) that will 
expire within 5 years. Other tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

37. SHARE CAPITAL

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised:
40,000,000,000 (2016: 40,000,000,000) ordinary 

shares of US$0.001 (2016: US$0.001) each 312,000 312,000
   

Issued and fully paid:
4,120,899,946 (2016:3,586,291,946) ordinary shares 

of US$0.001 (2016: US$0.001) each 32,194 28,025
   

A summary of the movements in the Company’s authorised and issued share capital during the 
year is as follows:

Number of 
shares Amount

HK$’000

At 1 April 2015 2,666,092,967 20,847

Shares issued upon conversion of convertible bonds 
(note (a)) 466,198,979 3,636

Shares issued upon exercise of share option (note (b)) 7,000,000 55
Shares issued upon exercise of warrants (note (c)) 447,000,000 3,487   

At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2016 3,586,291,946 28,025

Shares issued upon placement (note (d)) 534,608,000 4,169   

At 31 March 2017 4,120,899,946 32,194
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37. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Note:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2016, principal amount of HK$45,688,000 convertible bonds with carrying 
amount of HK$45,683,000 at conversion date were converted into ordinary share at a conversion price 
of HK$0.098 per share, resulting in an issue of 466,198,979 new ordinary shares of US$0.001 each and 
new share capital of approximately HK$3,636,000 and share premium of approximately HK$101,208,000, 
together with a release of the convertible bonds reserve amounting to approximately HK$59,161,000 
credited to the share premium account.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2016, 7,000,000 share options were exercised at average exercise price 
HK$0.150 per share, resulting in an issue of 7,000,000 new ordinary shares of US$0.001 each and new 
share capital of approximately HK$55,000 and share premium of approximately HK$995,000 together with a 
release of the share option reserve amounting to approximately HK$644,000 credited to the share premium 
account.

(c) On 20 August 2015, the Company entered into a conditional placing agreement with a placing agent for the 
placing of 447,000,000 placing shares at a price of HK$0.095 per placing share. The placing was completed 
on 4 September 2015 and the net proceeds from placing were approximately HK$41,111,000, net of share 
issue expenses of HK$1,354,000. The amounts of HK$3,487,000 and HK$38,978,000 were credited to 
share capital and the share premium account respectively.

(d) On 30 August 2016, the Company entered into a conditional placing agreement with a placing agent for the 
placing of 534,608,000 placing shares at a price of HK$0.069 per placing share. The placing was completed 
on 15 September 2016 and the net proceeds from placing were approximately HK$35,747,000, net of share 
issue expenses of HK$1,140,000. The amounts of HK$4,169,000 and HK$32,718,000 were credited to 
share capital and share premium account respectively.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern and to maximise the return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the 
debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group manages the capital 
structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the 
risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group 
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to 
shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.
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37. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is 
calculated as net debt divided by adjusted capital. Net debt is calculated as total debts less cash 
and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all components of equity (i.e. share capital, 
share premium, accumulated losses and other reserves).

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Debt (a) 148,373 133,377
Less: Bank and cash balances (28,055) (38,886)

Pledged bank deposits (22,314) (20,564)   

Net debt 98,004 73,927

Equity (b) 116,059 172,019
Net debt to equity ratio 84% 43%

   

(a) Debt is defined as bank and other loans, financial lease payable, promissory note and 
long term bonds, as detailed in notes 32, 33, 34 and 35 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

(b) Equity includes all capital and reserves before non-controlling interests of the Group.

It is the Group’s strategy to keep the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio as low as feasible.

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for the Group to maintain its listing on the 
Stock Exchange it has to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares.

The Group checks the substantial share interests showing the non-public float through the Stock 
Exchange’s website and it demonstrates continuing compliance with the 25% limit throughout the 
year. As at 31 March 2017, 61.04% (2016: 42.23%) of shares were in public hands.
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position

2017 2016
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 783 1,551
Investments in subsidiaries 82,217 156,668    

83,000 158,219    

Current assets
Deposit for acquisition of a subsidiary 23,500 –
Due from subsidiaries 75,622 72,536
Prepayments and other receivables 86 961
Bank and cash balances 121 1,556    

99,329 75,053    

Current liabilities
Due to subsidiaries 259 276
Other payables 3,719 3,197
Promissory note 38,000 38,000    

41,978 41,473    

Net current assets 57,351 33,580    

Total assets less current liabilities 140,351 191,799    

Non-current liabilities
Long term bonds 40,000 40,000    

NET ASSETS 100,351 151,799
    

Capital and reserves
Share capital 37 32,194 28,025
Reserves 38(b) 68,157 123,774    

TOTAL EQUITY 100,351 151,799
    

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

So Loi Fat Chen Dongquan
Director Director
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY 
(Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

Share 
premium 
account

Contributed 
surplus

Capital 
redemption 

reserve

Share-based 
payments 

reserve

Foreign 
translation 

reserve

Convertible 
bonds 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2015 270,001 16,375 2,943 5,220 – 59,161 (181,395) 172,305         

Loss for the year – – – – 13 – (129,210) (129,197)
Issue of placing 38,978 – – – – – – 38,978
Shares issued upon conversion  

of convertible bonds 101,208 – – – – (59,161) – 42,047
Transactions costs attributable to  

issue of new shares (1,354) – – – – – – (1,354)
Shares issued upon exercise of share options 1,639 – – (644) – – – 995
Forfeiture of share options – – – (812) – – 812 –         

Changes in equity for the year 140,471 – – (1,456) 13 (59,161) (128,398) (48,531)         

At 31 March 2016 410,472 16,375 2,943 3,764 13 – (309,793) 123,774         

Loss for the year – – – – 33 – (87,228) (87,195)
Issue of placing 32,718 – – – – – – 32,718
Transactions costs attributable to  

issue of new shares (1,140) – – – – – – (1,140)         

Changes in equity for the year 31,578 – – – 33 – (87,228) (55,617)         

At 31 March 2017 442,050 16,375 2,943 3,764 46 – (397,021) 68,157         

39. RESERVES

(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are presented in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated 
statement of changes in equity.
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39. RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium account

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium 
account of the Company are distributable to the shareholders of the Company 
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be 
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in 
the ordinary course of business.

(ii) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the difference between the net asset value of 
a subsidiary acquired and the nominal value of the ordinary shares issued by the 
Company in connection with an acquisition.

(iii) Capital redemption reserve

The capital redemption reserve arose when the Company repurchased 37,742,300 
ordinary shares of US$0.01 each from a former director of the Company on 4 
September 2001.

(iv) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences 
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The 
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 4(d) 
to the consolidated financial statements.

(v) Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve represents the fair value of the actual or 
estimated number of unexercised share options granted to eligible participants of 
the Group recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for equity-
settled share-based payments in note 4(x) to the consolidated financial statements.

(vi) Convertible bonds reserve

The convertible bonds reserve represents the value of the unexercised equity 
component of convertible bonds issued by the Company recognised in accordance 
with the accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds set out in note 4(u) to the 
consolidated financial statements in 2016 Annual Report.
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40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a Share Option Scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose 
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the 
Group’s operations. Eligible participants include the full-time employees, executives, officers, 
directors, business consultants, agents, legal and financial advisers of the Company and the 
Company’s subsidiaries. The Share Option Scheme became effective on 27 March 2003 and 
remained in force for 10 years from that date.

On 25 March 2013, an ordinary resolution was passed to terminate the Share Option Scheme due 
to its expiry. A new share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) is adopted to replace 
the Share Option Scheme. The New Share Option Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from 
that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options permitted to be granted under all share 
option schemes are a number equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the 
Company on grant date. The maximum number of shares issuable under all share options to each 
eligible participant in all share options schemes within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of 
the shares of the Company on grant date. Any further grant of shares options in excess of this 
limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The share options granted to director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, 
or to any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive 
directors. In addition, any share options granted to substantial shareholder or an independent 
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the 
shares of the Company on grant date or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the 
Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month 
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer, 
upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of 
the share options granted is determinable by the directors, and commences after a certain vesting 
period and ends on a date which is not later than ten years from the date of the offer of the share 
options.
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40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors, but may not be less than 
the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the 
offer of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares 
for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal value of 
the Company’s shares on the date of the offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ 
meetings.

(a) Share Option Scheme

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period
Exercise 

price
HK$

2010A 17.2.2010 17.2.2010 to 
16.2.2011

17.2.2011 to 
16.2.2020

0.107

2012A 29.6.2011 N/A 29.6.2011 to 
28.6.2021

0.140

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

2017 2016

Number 
of share 
options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price

Number 
of share 
options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
HK$ HK$

Outstanding at 
beginning of year 7,500,000 0.140 11,500,000 0.140

Lapsed – – (4,000,000) 0.140     

Outstanding at end of 
year 7,500,000 0.140 7,500,000 0.140

   

Exercisable at end of 
year 7,500,000 0.140 7,500,000 0.140
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40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(a) Share Option Scheme (Continued)

No share options have been exercised during the year ended 31 March 2016 and 2017. 
The options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average remaining 
contractual life of 4.22 years (2016: 5.22 years) and the exercise prices at HK$0.140 (2016: 
HK$0.140).

Share options granted to consultants were incentives for helping the Group to expand 
its business network, acquire and explore new business projects and opportunities. The 
fair value of such benefit could not be estimated reliably and as a result, the fair value is 
measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted.

(b) New Share Option Scheme

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period
Exercise 

price
HK$

2013A 28.3.2013 N/A 28.3.2013 to 
27.3.2023

0.150

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

2017 2016

Number 
of share 
options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price

Number 
of share 
options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
HK$ HK$

Outstanding at 
beginning of year 35,650,000 0.150 48,650,000 0.150

Lapsed – – (6,000,000) 0.150
Exercised – – (7,000,000) 0.150     

Outstanding at end of 
year 35,650,000 0.150 35,650,000 0.150

   

Exercisable at end of 
year 35,650,000 0.150 35,650,000 0.150
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40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(b) New Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised 
during the year ended 31 March 2016 was HK$0.150. 7,000,000 share options have been 
exercised during the year ended 31 March 2016. The options outstanding at the end of the 
year have a weighted average remaining contractual life of 5.99 years (2016: 6.99 years) 
and the exercise price was HK$0.150 (2016: HK$0.150). During the year, no options were 
granted.

Share options granted to consultants were incentives for helping the Group to expand 
its business network, acquire and explore new business projects and opportunities. The 
fair value of such benefit could not be estimated reliably and as a result, the fair value is 
measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted.

41. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Disposal of Star Global Industries Limited (“Star Global”)

On 23 October 2015, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an 
independent third party to dispose of its 100% equity interest in Star Global. Details of 
the disposal were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 23 October 2015. 
Star Global held an investment property located in Hong Kong. The consideration for the 
disposal was satisfied by cash of HK$22,400,000 and transfer of HK$22,179,000 and the 
completion date was on 29 January 2016.
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41. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(a) Disposal of Star Global Industries Limited (“Star Global”) (Continued)

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows:

HK$’000

Property, plant and equipments 3,376
Investment property 34,000
Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayment 520
Bank and cash balances 56
Due to former immediate holding company (22,179)
Other payables (134)
Bank borrowings (13,117) 

Net assets disposed of 2,522
Loss on disposal of the subsidiary (2,301) 

Total consideration 221
 

Satisfied by:

Cash 22,400
Debt transferred (22,179) 

221
 

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration received 22,400
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (56) 

22,344
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41. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Disposal of 深圳市中亞第一商務服務有限公司 (“中亞第一”)

On 11 November 2015, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with 
an independent third party to dispose of 51% entire equity interest in 中亞第一 at the 
consideration of RMB500,000 (equivalent to HK$620,000). 中亞第一 was principally 
engaged in property leasing services through a joint operation by owning 50% tenant-in-
common interest in “深圳市羅湖區寶安北路笋崗二區七號倉庫東翼1-5層” for the purpose 
of subleasing activity. The consideration for the disposed was satisfied by cash and the 
completion date was 22 December 2015.

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows:

HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 1,332
Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayment 2,357
Bank and cash balances 757
Other payables (2,007)
Tax payables (322)
Non-controlling interest (873) 

Net assets disposed of 1,244
Release of foreign currency translation reserve 48
Loss on disposal of the subsidiary (672) 

Total consideration 620
 

Satisfied by:
Cash 620

 

Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration received 620
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (757) 

(137)
 

(c) Major non-cash transaction

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the purchase of cross-boundary vehicle license of 
approximately HK$1,718,000 was paid by a director.
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42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2016, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company was under 
tax investigation by the Shenzhen Provisional Office of State Administration of Taxation regarding 
the receipt of factitious Value-Added Tax (“VAT”) invoice from certain suppliers for the period from 
November 2013 to January 2015 as those suppliers were under tax investigation by respective 
provisional office of State Administration of Taxation. On 13 June 2017, the case was concluded 
and a provision of approximately HK$4,375,000 (2016: HK$6,012,000) was made as at 31 March 
2017 regarding the non-deductible input VAT from these suppliers.

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2017.

43. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

As at 31 March 2017, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases are payable as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 3,640 4,488
In the second to fifth years inclusive 1,096 4,298   

4,736 8,786
   

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its offices. Leases 
are negotiated for an average term of three years (2016: four years) and rentals are fixed over the 
lease terms and do not include contingent rentals.
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44. CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Intangible asset
Contracted but provided for 17,132 –

   

45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) The compensation to the Group’s key management personnel, including amounts paid to 
the Company’s directors and certain of the highest paid employees, are disclosed in notes 
14 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Details of guarantees and legal charge over properties provided by related parties for 
banking facilities granted to the Group are as set out in note 32 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

(c) The director of the Company, Mr. So, provided a personal guarantee and legal charge over 
his property in favour of the Group to secure the recoverability of the aggregate amount of 
HK$23,500,000 paid for potential acquisitions of subsidiaries as disclosed in notes 28 (f) 
and (g).

46. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

As set out in note 25(c), on 27 June 2017, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement 
with the Other Shareholders to dispose of the Group’s entire 50% equity interests in Zhongyu for 
a consideration of RMB65,194,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$73,506,000).

As set out in note 26, on 27 June 2017, Xintaiyi, Zhongyu and the service provider entered into 
the Assignment Agreement. The cost incurred by Xintaiyi in relation to the Intangible Assets 
Development Contract up to the date of the Assignment Agreement amounted to RMB9,806,000 
(equivalent to HK$11,056,000) will be reimbursed by Zhongyu to the Group. 

On 27 June 2017, the Group entered into a properties transfer agreement with Zhongyu to 
acquire certain properties from Zhongyu at a consideration of RMB75,000,000 (equivalent to 
HK$84,562,000).
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Five Fiscal Years Financial Summary
 

RESULTS

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the 
last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial statements is set 
out below:

For the year ended 31 March

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Turnover 567,406 666,873 1,190,641 941,079 531,611
      

Loss before tax (115,852) (119,831) (4,021) (148,482) (68,742)
Taxation (7) (129) (1,436) (1,447) (1,434)      

Loss for the year (115,859) (119,960) (5,457) (149,929) (70,176)
Non-controlling interests (25,114) (9,349) 2,141 858 1,327      

Loss attributable to owners 
of the Company (90,745) (110,611) (7,598) (150,787) (71,503)

      

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

At 31 March

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 403,016 477,387 604,994 597,056 416,575
Total liabilities and non-

controlling interests (286,957) (305,368) (408,597) (483,172) (347,564)      

Total equity attributable to 
owners of the Company 116,059 172,019 196,397 113,884 69,011
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